Landscape Review: Measurement and Evaluation in Humancentered Design and Adolescent Sexual and Reproductive Health

February 28, 2022







Submitted by: Radhika Kannan, Sarah Tanishka Nethan, Divya Datta

Project Mentor: Anne LaFond Project Supervisors: Divya Datta, Kapil Vachhar Project Manager: Surbhi Pandit, Madhu Priyanka Kannabiran Research Leads: Sarah Tanishka Nethan, Radhika Kannan Visual Designer: Ranjani Tavargeri Authors: Radhika Kannan, Sarah Tanishka Nethan, Divya Datta Reviewers: Anne LaFond, Kethi Mullei, Tom Kipruto, Muthoni Wachira, Emily Stammer Editors: Anne LaFond, Kethi Mullei, Monika Malviya, Sue Carrington, Suzanne Slattery

Contents

| FOREWORD 4 |
|---|
| ACKNOWLEDGMENTS 5 |
| STRUCTURE OF THE DOCUMENT 6 |
| EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 7 |
| Introduction Learning objectives Learning questions Methods Limitations and mitigation Lay of the land Challenges in measurement in HCD + ASRH Discussions and key lessons learned Future areas of learning |
| ACRONYMS |
| GLOSSARY OF TERMS22 |
| INTRODUCTION25 |

LEARNING OBJECTIVES 27 LEARNING QUESTIONS 29

METHODOLOGY 31

Process map of the methodology Rapid review Phased expert consultations Documentation and blended analysis Thematic analysis Limitations and mitigation

APPLICATION OF MEASUREMENT IN HCD+ASRH 40

Lay of the land Brief overview of MLE approaches across projects (Table) MLE approaches and learnings from select projects Case 1: Adolescent 360 Case 2: The Hewlett Foundation evaluation of Diva Program and Future Fab by Itad Case 3: (re)solve Case 4: Beyond Bias Case 5: CyberRwanda

COMMON CHALLENGES IN MLE IN HCD+ASRH 82

Challenge #1: Lack of frameworks to define the influence of design in ASRH programming Challenge #2: Lack of standard metrics to track HCD Challenge #3: Limited documentation of HCD processes and decision-making in the program cycle Challenge #4: Lack of standard measurement to inform the early phases of design decision-making Challenge #5: Methodological challenges Challenge #6: Integration of design and measurement

REFERENCES 104

DISCUSSION AND LESSONS

Planning for integration of design and MLE across all programmatic stages Considering intermediate outcomes indicators that emerge from HCD processes Managing cross-disciplinary approaches, methodologies, and indicators Using adaptive M&E approaches Framing the value of design before undertaking assessments Integrating practices

ANNEXES 110

- Annex 1. Learning questions and sub-questions
- Annex 2. Inclusion criteria
- Annex 3. Interview guide
- Annex 4. Tools and techniques

CITATIONS 121

Foreword

The <u>HCDExchange</u> is a community of youth, implementers, funders, designers, and evaluators committed to advancing learning and practice related to the integration of humancentered design (HCD) and adolescent sexual and reproductive health (HCD+ASRH) in low-resource settings, with a particular focus on countries in Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia.



Acknowledgments

We are grateful for the collaboration with the HCDExchange team and Measurement and Evaluation Working Group members in developing this report. This report is the result of a participatory process of generous input and feedback, supported by the HCDExchange team and members of the monitoring, learning, and evaluation (MLE) working group and supported by John Snow, Inc. (JSI).

The report's focus and contents were developed through a rigorous review of documents and resources curated, shared, and/or referred by the HCDExchange team, working group members, and Vihara's researchers. Also, a series of expert consultations and in-depth discussions with practitioners working in HCD+ASRH helped bridge gaps in analyzing and identifying other potential areas of learning.

Thank you Stefanie Wallach, Chris Larkin, Jordan Levine, Ipsa Agnani, Rimjhim Surana, Tasha Raman, Meghan Cutherell, Claire Cole, Reshma Trasi, Mohamad Brooks, Cecelia Angelone, Steve Kretschmer, Parinita Bhattacharjee, Marissa Becker, Shajy K Isac, Mary Philips, and Dhaval Kothari for taking time out to e-meet and share experiential insights from your respective fields.

Thank you, Monika Malviya, Suzanne Slattery, and Sue Carrington, for proofreading and copy-editing the draft of this report and bringing it to its final shape.

Our hope is that the learnings presented in this landscape review are useful for practitioners looking to invest in and undertake programs in the HCD+ASRH space.

Structure of the document

This report is organized into three parts:

Part 1 introduces HCDExchange and its rationale for focusing on measurement, learning, and evaluation (MLE) within HCD+ASRH programming. It then presents key learning questions and the methodology (illustrated through a process map) adopted for the rapid review and landscape review.

Part 2 provides a broad lay of the land, describing patterns observed across projects and MLE approaches adopted. Table 1 provides a brief overview of all eight projects reviewed, including MLE stakeholders, timelines, aims, and approaches. This is followed by case summaries of five selected projects, which include a brief introduction to the project; details on the purpose of MLE; approaches, frameworks, and tools employed; challenges encountered in specific phases and throughout the project; and reflections and learnings that emerged from documentation and interviews with project staff.

Part 3 discusses common challenges observed in applying measurement to HCD+ASRH programming and presents reflections and learnings from the small set of projects for which documentation and learning could be gathered.



Executive Summary

Introduction

Over the last five years, interest and investments have grown in applying human-centered design (HCD) approaches to adolescent sexual and reproductive health (ASRH) programming. As an approach, HCD puts users, their needs, desires, sensibilities, lived experiences, contexts, and preferences at the heart of the intervention development process (including insight discovery, analysis, ideation, iterative prototyping, and refinement) to build solutions that have a high likelihood of user engagement, acceptance, uptake, and impact for the user. Practitioners and experts deem that HCD has the potential to build empathy by bringing patient voice, user perspective, and innovation to construct and repair pieces of the intervention or health system to make it work in alignment with and in response to people's needs to achieve better health outcomes.^{1, 2}

Despite the increased integration of HCD into ASRH, there is limited experience or documentation on the use of measurement in the design process to ground it in empirical evidence. Practitioners who have tried to introduce measurement have experienced challenges related to the qualitative, experimental, and iterative nature of HCD and expectations of methodological rigor that are common to public health programming. There is a need to apply advanced measurement to effectively assess and evaluate HCD+ASRH programs, measure the design process, evaluate HCD's influence on program impact, and generate learning that can help assess and optimize the role of design in achieving health system and health status outcomes.

The HCDExchange community of practice is committed to advancing learning and practice related to integrating HCD and ASRH in lowresource settings, with a particular focus on countries in Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia. In 2020, HCDExchange and the broader community of stakeholders identified and prioritized measurement and evaluation as one of four thematic learning domains³ in HCD+ASRH programming. With growing interest in this field, HCDExchange focuses on advancing learning in two areas of measurement: 1) using measurement in the context of HCD+ASRH programming and 2) measuring the influence and

impact of design. HCDExchange partnered with <u>Vihara Innovation</u> <u>Network</u> to conduct the first landscape review on measurement and evaluation as applied in HCD+ASRH programming. The main purpose of this report is to review and present existing literature in this emerging field and learn from the nature of experiences, challenges, and practitioners; extract themes; and identify critical gaps and unanswered questions to guide the direction of future learning inquiries.



Learning objectives

Specific objectives of the landscape review of the measurement learning are to identify:



Examples of integrating measurement for HCD+ASRH



Evaluation approaches and frameworks/tools used for measurement, evaluation, and iterative learning for HCD+ASRH programs



4

Key metrics used for HCD+ASRH programs (inputs, outputs, outcomes)

Key challenges in applying measurement and evaluation strategies to HCD+ASRH programs



Critical gaps, challenges, and questions that remain unanswered so as to guide future areas of inquiry



Learning questions

The two overarching learning questions that guided the landscape review are as follows:

> How have measurement and evaluation been integrated into HCD in the context of ASRH programming?

2

1

How have design and its value been measured and assessed in HCD+ASRH programming?



Methods

The team conducted this landscape review over three months, applying qualitative research methods to gather evidence on MLE in HCD+ASRH from experts and publicly available literature.

Steps taken included:

• A rapid review of publicly available literature, technical briefs and program documents, representing eight selected programs to inform the analysis.

- Categorization and synthesis of literature on the basis of learning questions and sub-questions.
- A rapid review of shortlisted documents following the HCDExchange Practical Guidance for Rapid Review.
- Phased expert interviews with 17 experts with experience in HCD+ASRH MLE to supplement information from the secondary data.
- A thematic analysis and case summary

key findings.



Limitations and mitigation

Measurement of HCD+ASRH is an emerging field. Documentation and literature from which to draw on when conducting a landscape analysis are sparse. Eight projects were fully analyzed, as they presented important learnings at the intersection of HCD, ASRH, and MLE. Literature in the public domain was also limited. In addition, the terms and concepts used by implementers, evaluations, and HCD specialists in this work were inconsistent, requiring researchers to compare, triangulate, and reconcile inputs during analysis. The analysis relied on a small number of cases that were available and drew from multiple rounds of expert and program manager consultations to synthesize findings and learnings.



Lay of the land

The rapid review identified three categories of projects in the HCD+ASRH space, including:

- 1. projects that used HCD for ASRH programming and completed MLE, including published endline,^{4, 5, 6, 7, 8}
- 2. projects that employed HCD for ASRH programming that had ongoing MLE with no published endline,^{9, 10, 11} and
- 3. projects (pilots or design challenges) that undertook ASRH programming with high levels of youth integration, adopting some principles of HCD

without the explicit adoption of the HCD approach and undertook a mix of traditional or atypical MLE.¹² Other ASRH projects identified for the review adopted HCD approaches but did not incorporate or budget for MLE.^{13, 14, 15}

Most of the projects applied process assessments to measure HCD+ASRH project outputs and outcomes where HCD was embedded within the implementation strategy (in some cases, other disciplines were also a core part of the implementation strategy).¹⁶ Only

one project intended to document and explore whether and how design works; its feasibility, potential, and limitations; and factors impacting its successful use.¹⁷ No project explicitly applied measurement or evaluation with the intention of assessing the influence of design and its pathway to outcomes. None of the projects used measurement to gather data that would be fed back to strengthen early design decisions with a view of strengthening the design process and decision-making. All projects were evaluated to understand the effectiveness of

Jump to Endnotes

the final solution or outcome, the impact generated, and the process of the intervention itself. Most of the evaluations assessed the impact of the intervention on the target community.¹⁸ One of these evaluations went a step further to assess how the intervention had changed the target populations' intention of using contraceptives, in one instance. A few projects that documented the results of the evaluation highlighted only the overall benefits of the intervention or the ways in which youth found the program beneficial because of the added layer of design and its ability to make programs relevant, interesting, and exciting to youth and adolescents.

In sum, the landscape observed that most projects applied mixed-methods measurement and evaluation strategies and adopted HCD-inspired frameworks and tools within MLE. Adolescents360 (A360) adopted continuous measurement across the program cycle using techniques such as participatory action research (PAR), report cards, user journey frameworks, and sounding workshops¹⁹ alongside more traditional MLE approaches.

A360^{20, 21} used a user journey framework to structure its evaluation and explore implementation. Crosssectional survey designs were blended with a one-stage or two-stage cluster sampling design along with secondary analysis that consisted of doseresponse and secular trends analysis.²² In Itad and Hewlett's evaluation of Future Fab and Diva Centres project, mixed methods, such as key informant interviews (KII), were used along with country visits that incorporated field interviews, focus groups discussions (FGD) with beneficiaries, journey mapping, and force field workshops.²³ The (re)solve project applied mixed methods using cluster randomized

trials with blended quantitative and qualitative techniques in the baseline and endline.²⁴ Interventional critical trials fed back into the scale-up and the piloting period of implementation.

Challenges in measurement in HCD+ASRH

Analysis revealed six challenges as the most fundamental and common related to applying measurement and evaluation in the context of HCD+ASRH:

Challenge #1:

Lack of frameworks to define the influence of design in ASRH programming (for instance, the absence of a mutually agreed theory of change).

Challenge #2:

Lack of metrics to track the influence of HCD (the inability to systematically track influence of HCD processes, such as empathy building and user-centric solution development), leading to poor understanding of the role of HCD in ASRH programming.

Challenge #3:

Limited documentation of HCD processes and decision-making in the program cycle, which has been

attributed primarily to HCD's inherently fast-paced and iterative nature.

Challenge #4:

Lack of standard measurement to inform the early phases of design decisionmaking. This has been signaled in the lack of instances of the use of MLE in the design phase to inform the evolution of prototypes and related decisions that would support implementation and scale-up.

Challenge #5:

Methodological challenges ranging from a) integrating traditional impact evaluation into HCD-led projects, b) evaluating the influence of specific approaches in cross-disciplinary projects,

c) observing research fatigue among study participants due to repetitive solicitation of experiences through multiple teams, and d) lacking the time and space to discuss, reflect, and incorporate monitoring and evaluation (M&E) findings into the subsequent phases, leading to limited uptake of findings.

Challenge #6: Integration of design and measurement, which relates to challenges around the effective use of MLE in HCD+ASRH programming.



Discussion and key lessons learned

When HCD approaches are applied to public health, they change the fundamental nature of programming and measurement, presenting challenges and opportunities for the field. Evidence shows the need for the field of measurement to build a set of evolved and integrated approaches to measure design-led programs that are often creative, experimental, and iterative, which have hitherto challenged traditional measurement.

HCD's influence on a program's impact needs to be understood through measurement, which can in turn inform its application within

global health to attain desired health outcomes. Evidence points to gaps in design practice, specifically in its ability to link design priorities and indicators with traditional public health indicators and account for these in its approaches. It would be ideal to develop a symbiotic relationship between design and measurement, i.e., by improving design practice and outputs through continuous integration of measurement learnings. This can also be accomplished by using design inquiries to flow feedback to enhance measurement indicators (attune them closely to user priorities), along with incorporating new usercentered techniques of learning into measurement practices. Making space for resourcing and grant flexibility toward continuous integration of design and measurement are critical to achieving better outcomes and establishing impact pathways.

Given the nascency of the field and paucity of literature on measurement and evaluation of HCD+ASRH, it is too early to make definitive recommendations or define best practices. Analysis of a small set of program experiences in this landscape review yielded a set of early reflections, learnings, and some steps to mitigate

challenges to advance measurement and evaluation in the context of HCD+ASRH programming. These include:

- 1. Planning for integration of design and MLE across all programmatic stages
- 2. Considering intermediate outcomes indicators that emerge from HCD processes
- 3. Managing cross-disciplinary approaches, methodologies, and indicators
- 4. Using adaptive M&E approaches
- 5. Framing the value of design before undertaking assessments
- 6. Integrating practices



Future areas of learning

This analysis proposes the following areas for future research for this learning domain:

- Investigate the linkages between design priorities and indicators and public health measurement indicators. In particular, consider how metrics from each discipline might strengthen the overall approach to MLE.
- Explore opportunities to create hybridized practices across MLE+HCD+ASRH. Specifically, build on learnings at the nexus of these disciplines and apply them to future programs.

- Study design and measurement within the context of adaptive implementation.
- Address the question, what kinds of processes can bring together youth integration, measurement, and HCD to encourage more accountable power shifting and effective programming?





| A360 - Adolescents 360 | IDI - in-depth interview | PEER - participatory ethnogra evaluation and research |
|---|---|--|
| ADAP - adolescent development and participation | JSI - John Snow, Inc. | PPAZ - Planned Parenthood A |
| ASRH - adolescent sexual and | KII - key Informant Interview | of Zambia |
| reproductive health | M&E - monitoring and evaluation | PSI - Population Services Inter |
| AYSRH - adolescent and youth sexual | mCPR - modern contraceptive prevalence rate | RH - reproductive health |
| and reproductive health | | SRH - sexual and reproductive |
| CEA - cost effectiveness analysis | MEL - monitoring, evaluation, and learning | SS - Smart Start Program |
| CTM - creative tension memo | | |
| D/R - decision/reflection | MLE - measurement, learning, and evaluation | SVA - School of Visual Arts |
| FGD - focus group discussion | MSK - Marie Stopes Kenya | ToC - theory of change |
| FP - family planning | MTR - mid-term review | UNDP - United Nations Devel Program |
| | | |
| GEE - generalized estimating equations | NGO - non-governmental organization | UNICEF - United Nations Child Fund |
| HCD - human-centered design | OE - outcome evaluation | |
| HCD+ASRH - human-centered design | PAR - participatory action research | USA - United States of Americ |
| and adolescent sexual and reproductive health | PE - process evaluation | |
| | | |

raphic

Association

ternational

ive health

elopment

nildren's

rica



Glossary of Terms

Adolescents²⁵

Any person between the ages of 10 and 19.

Co-design

A process of creating solutions along with the users you're trying to affect. Activities can be used to define a complete solution or just to gather input and feedback on small features of products or services. Related terms: Cocreation, participatory design.

Design

The process of developing informed, sensitive, inclusive, purposeful, and innovative solutions that embody functional and aesthetic demands based on the needs of the intended users and their ecosystem. Design is applied in the development of goods, services, processes, messages, and environments. Related term: Humancentered design.

Design thinking

An approach to innovation that draws from the designer's toolkit to integrate the needs of people, the possibilities of technology, and the requirements for business success. Design thinking, skills, and practices should be thought of as being appropriate to all disciplines, including design.

Insights

Ideas or anecdotes expressed as succinct statements that serve to interpret patterns in research findings. Insights offer a new perspective, even if they are not new discoveries. They are inspiring and relevant to the design challenge. Related term: Sensemaking, synthesis.

Human-Centered Design (HCD)

The process of integrating human perspectives in all steps of the problemsolving process. The aim is to better understand an issue from the human

perspective and focus on how it looks and feels to users and stakeholders within their environment and context.

Prototype

A model or artifact built to test a concept with users to learn from them. A prototype helps designers understand, explore, and communicate what it feels like to engage with a solution in real working conditions rather than theoretical conditions. Prototypes can be used to test and refine concepts.

Participatory design

An approach that invites stakeholders such as clients, users, and community members into the design process to ensure that a design meets the needs of those it is serving. It is a type of social research in which the people being studied have significant control over participation, collaboration, and agency to increase buy-in.

User journey

A journey map that focuses specifically on representing the experience of the user. It is shown as a series of touchpoints along a scenario in which a user interacts with the product/service/ program/systems being designed. User journeys demonstrate the way users are currently interacting with, or could interact with, the solution. *Related term: journey map.*

Youth Integration

Practice of involving young people (ages 10–24) in designing and implementing HCD and adolescent sexual and reproductive health (ASRH).

Youth

People between the ages of 10 and 24.







Over the last decade, interest and investment have grown in applying human-centered design (HCD) to address adolescent sexual and reproductive health (ASRH) and other global health challenges. Yet learning on applying measurement and evidence related to HCD+ASRH programs is limited and remains an underdeveloped area of study, theory, and practice.

HCDExchange as a community of practice is committed to advancing learning and practice related to the integration of HCD and ASRH in lowresource settings, with a particular focus on countries in Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia. In 2020, HCDExchange and the broader community of stakeholders identified and prioritized measurement and evaluation as one of four thematic learning domains²⁶ in HCD+ASRH programming. In line with the *Framing* of the Learning Agenda in HCD+ASRH, developed by HCDExchange in

collaboration with the community, this learning domain seeks to answer the following framing question:

How to integrate measurement effectively in HCD+ASRH for documentation, informing HCD+ASRH processes, and assessing influence and impact?

It therefore focuses on two main topics:

- The use of data in HCD+ASRH
- Measurement strategies for documenting and evaluating HCD+ASRH

Learning for this domain will ensure that the evidence gathered informs future design processes, program approaches and adaptation, accountability, and reporting in HCD+ASRH projects. Learnings from the larger domain could be used in the future to guide measurement strategies, including

use of metrics for routine progress monitoring in HCD+ASRH and for linking HCD+ASRH interventions to ASRH outcomes.

Hence, HCDExchange partnered with Vihara Innovation Network to conduct a first landscape review on measurement and evaluation as applied in HCD+ASRH programming, with the key purpose of reviewing and presenting existing literature in this emerging field, learning from the nature of experiences and learnings experts have had, extracting themes, and identifying critical gaps and unanswered questions to guide the direction of future learning inquiries. Findings from this landscape review are outlined in this report.



Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH

26



Learning Objectives

The specific objectives of the landscape review of measurement and evaluation in the context of HCD+ASRH programing are to identify:

Examples of integrating measurement in HCD+ASRH programming

2

3

4

Key metrics used for HCD+ASRH programs (inputs, outputs, outcomes)

5

Critical gaps, challenges, and questions that remain unanswered so as to guide future areas of inquiry

Evaluation approaches and frameworks/tools used for measurement, evaluation, and iterative learning for HCD+ASRH programs Key challenges in applying measurement and evaluation strategies to HCD+ASRH programs





Learning Questions

The two overarching learning questions that guided the landscape review are as follows (Annex 1):

> How have measurement and evaluation been integrated into HCD in the context of ASRH programming?

1

2

How have design and its value been measured and assessed in HCD+ASRH programming?







Process map of the methodology

LITERATURE REVIEW

ANALYSIS



This landscape review took place over ten months and applied qualitative research methods to gather evidence from primary and secondary data sources. To inform the analysis, the team curated and conducted a rapid review of 47 documents available in the public domain. To supplement information provided from secondary data, the team also conducted a phased series of 17 expert consultations with individuals working with key HCD+ASRH programs. Information gathered and experiences included in the analysis were drawn from projects and initiatives in the regions of Sub-Saharan Africa and South Asia. To synthesize and distill information presented in this report, the team also conducted a thematic content analysis.

Rapid review

The team conducted a rapid document review over seven months, beginning in May 2021 and ending in November 2021. Documents were initially curated by JSI's research advisory service to reflect projects relevant to the fields of HCD, ASRH, youth integration, and measurement. To accelerate learning and supplement existing resources in the HCDExchange database, the team independently curated additional resources available in the public domain to build a knowledge bank for learning in MLE in HCD+ASRH. Search terms employed on Google's search engine were phrases such as HCD adolescent health projects,

HCD adolescent health, and HCD adolescent health measurement and words such as *measurement* evaluation HCD and HCD adolescent evaluation. Internet searches were done through the PubMed electronic database and Google Scholar. Gray literature, e.g., reports, academic theses and dissertations, conference material, and work-in-progress journal papers were searched for, from electronic sources, i.e., Google. Resources reviewed to inform and generate evidence for the analysis included published and gray literature, tools, learning products, reports, and technical briefs. The final list of projects and documents was

reviewed jointly and agreed upon with the HCDExchange team. Literature was then categorized and synthesized based on the learning questions and sub-questions to guide the analysis.

The team identified 16 project examples and four articles written by subject matter experts in HCD+ASRH and MLE. After a thorough screening process, eight project examples and three expert articles were shortlisted and reviewed for this landscape study. Literature included project and expert resources, undertaken or developed from 2011 to 2021 that adopted HCD processes or approaches in ASRH programs that

also included measurement, learning and/or evaluation of the process or the outcomes. In addition to projects that had all three elements of HCD, ASRH, and measurement, researchers also reviewed design challenges and pilot projects of relatively shorter durations. For the shortlisted eight project examples and three expert articles, 47 documents were identified and finally reviewed. The documents included case studies, i.e., documentation in the form of articles, presentations, learning documents, and downloadable PDF files that provided an overview, summary, findings, and conclusion of individual projects. Academic articles on M&E that were not project-centric were a key component. Policy recommendation documents by organizations were also included in the review, which functioned as an omnibus of the entire project and its various elements. These documents did not have a specified author; rather, they were launched through their organizations and have been cited as such.

The team carried out a rapid review process of these shortlisted documents by using the HCDExchange <u>Practical</u> <u>Guidance for Rapid Review</u>. Once reviewed, a literature synthesis spreadsheet tool was used to systematically extract and log relevant text from resources that were related to the learning topic, including the highlighting of gaps.

There are a limited number of ASRH projects that applied HCD and also conducted and reported on MLE strategies and outcomes. In this rapid review, the team analyzed three complete projects. The completion is marked by the successful finishing and documentation of the endline in publicly available documents. These projects were: A360, (re)solve, and ITAD and Hewlett's evaluation of Diva Centres and Future Fab. The second category of projects that was analyzed included two ongoing evaluations of ASRH projects using HCD: CyberRwanda and Beyond Bias. Due to the dearth

of project examples and the need to explore measurement approaches that could be relevant to HCD, the team extended the search to include a third category of projects that had substantial youth integration (short-term projects, pilots, or design competitions), adopted HCD principles, and included an MLE component. These were: UNICEF's Kosovo Project, Oxfam's Young@Heart, and Adjumani Design Challenge. 34

Phased expert consultations

The phased expert consultations took place over seven months from June to December 2021. The HCDExchange Partner Database served as the key sampling frame for identifying and recruiting the respondents to inform the landscape review. The research team sought also to identify alternative contacts to interview from organizations that were not within the partner database, through recommendations made by respondents or the HCDExchange team. Purposive sampling was used to review the HCDExchange members directory and shortlist and create a list of potential interviewees based on an inclusion criterion (see Annex 2). The

HCDExchange Secretariat supported shortlisting experts for consultations. Target respondents included experts and practitioners with expertise in MLE and/or HCD+MLE who have been involved with various ASRH projects. A total of 17 experts were interviewed in a phased manner. Researchers studied the background profile of the experts and consulted with HCDExchange to develop a list of bespoke topics areas (per expert) that they would be best suited to reflect on, given their specific expertise and unique experiences.

For the first phase of consultations, the team shortlisted two experts to reflect on their participation in two key projects

(HCD+ASRH projects that completed MLE). These consultations were designed as semi-structured dialogues where experts were encouraged to pick examples from these projects, explain the processes undertaken, and ground their sharing of key challenges, learnings, and solutions in the real-time experience of these projects. They were then encouraged to reflect, extrapolate, and nominate specific themes that they considered important for this domain for further inquiry. Supplementary information that came from these expert interviews helped curate an additional set of resources, containing knowledge pertinent to the learning questions and filling gaps in the literature.

These readings were added and simultaneously reviewed for analysis.

Then, the team held another set of consultations with five experts who were presented with the shortlisted thematic challenges emerging from the early-stage rapid review analysis. They helped verify, deepen, and refine the identified themes. This set was followed by consultations with two program officers who were asked targeted questions to help fill remaining gaps in the literature through their first-hand knowledge and experience in project examples included in this landscape study. As part of Phase 2 of the consultation, researchers conducted some interviews simultaneously for building tools for the shortlisted themes. Key insights from these interviews have also been included in this landscape analysis. The team held a final set of consultations, and corresponded by email, with two program officers to verify and refine case summaries for their respective projects.

These one-hour-long sessions were guided by a semi-structured interview tool (Annex 3), and information was captured using digital audio recordings, which were transcribed and stored in Google Drive. White papers, briefs, and reports that were not readily available in the public domain were requested and used.



36
Documentation and blended analysis

Analysis of literature: All 47 curated documents included in the landscape review underwent a rigorous critical appraisal process that included three steps:

- Vetting and sorting projects identified and entering key elements of each project, including project summary, study objectives, evaluation framework, methods, outcomes, measurement indicators, and additional findings, into a tabular literature synthesis sheet.
- Using a separate analytical tool (analysis spreadsheet), in which each learning question and sub-

question was answered by first plotting relevant extracted data from across all projects, then reviewing and analyzing these extracts, summarizing them by learning question.

 Analyzing additional documents received after the third and fourth round of consultations and using them to build short case summaries for each project example included in this landscape study.

Analysis of expert interviews: The consultation transcript was produced by combining manual and transcripts

from Otter.ai. Transcribed data were documented in Google Docs and stored on a shared internal Google Drive, accessible to the internal learning teams. Interview transcripts were highlighted to select key segments and sections that answered learning questions and sub-questions and provide key learning and insights relevant to the domain overall. Data from these consultations supplemented the literature review findings in arriving at key learnings and themes.

Thematic analysis

The analysis sheet triangulated data from the literature review and expert interviews to answer each learning question, sketch the measurement and evaluation landscape, and identify gaps. The sheet was then reviewed to mark and surface emerging themes. Spreadsheet and Miro²⁷ were used to cluster similar thematic groups, discard weak themes, and retain and refine strong and prevalent ones, which were eventually outlined into meta themes and sub-themes. These themes represent key prevalent technical or operational challenges practitioners face related to measurement and evaluation in HCD+ASRH programming.

The research team conducted thematic analysis, within the structure of the landscaping, to inform the findings of the landscape review and guide development of technical briefs and practical public goods and assets that practitioners can use to understand and overcome challenges faced previously.





Limitations and mitigation

Measurement in HCD+ASRH is an emergent domain and is in its nascent stages. Due to the paucity of documentation and literature on M&E within projects, tracking how decisions were made, indicators were set, and measurement and evaluation were conducted was challenging. The disciplines of MLE, HCD, and ASRH come from vastly different ideologies, vocabularies, and methods and have not yet been reconciled; therefore, established tools and templates with inputs, outputs, and outcomes are not widely available in the literature. Limitations on the amount of literature in this area also made it difficult to conduct traditional pattern analysis. Each project had to be assessed in its own universe to understand where and how HCD and MLE were experimented with and applied and therefore this document presents findings within the framework of analytic case summary. There was also a dearth of peer-reviewed papers that could add to the pool of literature, and therefore the team relied on expert consultations almost as much as written documentation to determine the dominant themes. Although researchers started out with a set of learning questions, certain questions had to be tweaked and adapted to the reality illustrated by the literature. Researchers

could only access documents that were available in the public domain, as the rapid review was conducted in a twomonth time period.





Application of Measurement in HCD+ASRH

Lay of the land

Every public health program has some form of MLE. Not all programs make a large effort in MLE, barring exceptions (such as A360). This landscape review explores how HCD+ASRH address MLE and what they manage to measure and evaluate in the duration of a program. In ASRH programming, projects that incorporate HCD and invest in significant MLE are scarce. However, among the programs reviewed in the landscape, various levels of investment in MLE were found. Three HCD+ASRH projects— A360, (re)solve, and Itad and Hewlett's evaluation of Diva Centres and Future Fab—were found to have completed

MLE (including a published endline). One HCD+ASRH project (Beyond Bias) is yet to publish its endline evaluation and therefore only the MLE design was analyzed. At the time of this review, one HCD+ASRH project studied (Cyber Rwanda) had not yet undertaken mid and endline assessments and only the MLE approach was analyzed for this landscape study. We identified other projects that adopted HCD approaches to develop ASRH solutions (e.g., Game of Choice not Chance), but they did not incorporate MLE and were excluded from this rapid review. Three projects (UPSHIFT's Kosovo, Adjumani Design Challenge, and Young@Heart) were

considered inspiration projects, as these projects deeply integrated youth within implementation and measurement and adopted principles of designled programming without explicitly employing HCD approaches.

Most projects incorporated HCD alongside other disciplines as a core part of the implementation strategy. Most of the projects applied process assessments to measure HCD+ASRH programming where HCD was embedded within the implementation strategy. Only one project intended to tease out whether and how design works in practice, its feasibility, potential

and limitations, and factors impacting its successful use. No project explicitly applied measurement or evaluation with the intention to tease out the influence of design along the pathway to outcomes. Measurement was also not applied in any of the projects to feed back into the early phases of design with a view to strengthening the design process and decision-making.

All projects were evaluated to understand the effectiveness of the intended program outcome and the process of the intervention itself. Most projects assessed the impact of the intervention on the target community. One evaluation went one step further to assess how the intervention had changed the target populations' intention of using contraceptives.

Four of the eight projects used the following evaluation types:²⁸ outcome evaluation (A360^{29, 30, 31}) process evaluation (A360^{32, 33, 34} and Itad-Hewett), impact evaluation (CyberRwanda³⁵ and (re)solve³⁶), and formative evaluation (UPSHIFT's Kosovo Program³⁷).

Two of eight projects used other evaluation approaches in combination with the ones mentioned above. Itad undertook a utility-focused evaluation,³⁸ a framework developed to evaluate the usefulness of the program to the intended users.³⁹ Along with process and outcome evaluation, A360 also conducted a cost-effectiveness evaluation to understand the main cost-drivers for the cross-disciplinary approaches for different geographies.^{40, 41, 42} One out of the eight projects (Beyond Bias) planned an interventional clinical trial, which was employed for its evaluation cycles.⁴³

Three of eight projects reported using a "mixed-methods" approach

to measurement and evaluation. An emergent methodology, a mixedmethods approach advances systematic integration of "quantitative" and qualitative data within a single investigation or sustained program inquiry."⁴⁴ Integration of this kind permits "a more complete and synergistic utilisation of data than do separate quantitative and qualitative data collection and analysis."45 A360's costeffectiveness evaluation aimed to measure costs and effectiveness with a focus on the outcome evaluation in three geographies.^{46, 47, 48} The adaptive implementation phase evaluated the project activities and outputs as well as undertook mixed-method monitoring, including client exit interviews, data and clinical quality audits, and impact and outcome evaluation.⁴⁹ Project (re)solve's impact evaluation used mixed-methods cluster randomized trials in the baseline, midline, and endline.⁵⁰ Longitudinal guantitative

surveys in intervention schools and with control populations (baseline and endline only) were conducted.⁵¹ This survey was conducted alongside longitudinal in-depth interviews in intervention schools in baseline and endline. The project supplemented surveys with endline qualitative interviews with implementation staff and key informant interviews (KIIs) with experts and authorities.⁵² The UpShift Kosovo Program's evaluation process used a mixed-methods approach that drew on four sources of information across stakeholders: 1) documentation of policies, donor reports, and external research; 2) secondary quantitative and qualitative information of nationallevel demographic indicators, program indicators measurement, and UNICEF's internal data sets; 3) primary qualitative data collected through a youth tracer study using youth surveys; and 4) primary qualitative information from interviews.53

Of the eight projects reviewed, two reported using no comprehensive evaluation approach.^{54, 55} These projects did not use typical evaluation frameworks or techniques, but rather curated qualitative feedback from youth and other stakeholders around perceived benefits of and experience with the project to showcase project success. Adjumani Design Challenge, a project that was aimed at bettering youth engagement of refugees to integrate them into the economy of their host country, provides one such example.^{56, 57, 58} Remarks of higher officials who were part of the training were used as markers for measuring the impact of the program in the shortterm. The design challenge led to the development of community solutions (farming tools, sanitization products, financial planning tools) and the income incurred through the program was used as a measurement of the program's success.⁵⁹ Young@Heart, a project that aimed to put youth at the heart

of project design, implementation, and evaluation, introduced evaluation techniques that helped youth measure their peers' ability to raise their voices on the problems that concern them with respect to their communities. Youth were trained in techniques that helped them use smartphones, cameras, voice recorders, and survey questions to interview their peers.⁶⁰



Jump to Endnotes

Brief overview of MLE approaches across projects (Table)

Table 1 below describes each of the eight projects reviewed, the focus of MLE and MLE approaches and frameworks adopted.

| Ethiopia, Nigeria, Tanzaniathat increase demand for and use of contraception among adolescent girlsperiod of 2016–2017 in two regions and one municipality of Ethiopia; Oromia, Amhara, and Addisa set of primary and secondary outcomes among sexually active girls aged 15–19, includinglevel data A360 phase encompaseEvaluator: Itad led the consortium foraged 15–19 in Ethiopia, Nigeria, and Tanzania. design, implementation, and scale).nodern contraceptive prevalence tanged 15–19, unmet need for contraceptive prevalencestakeholde participato | | | | | | |
|---|-------|---|--|---|---|--|
| 1Adolescents 360 (A360) Ethiopia, Nigeria, TanzaniaA360 worked to design and deliver interventions that increase demand for among adolescent girls aged 15–19 in Ethiopia, Itad led the consortium for the evaluation of A360 with London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine and Avenir Health in the consortium.A360 worked to design and deliver interventions that increase demand for and use of contraception among adolescent girls aged 15–19 in Ethiopia, Nigeria, and Tanzania.Process evaluation included four rounds of data collection over the period of 2016–2017 in two regions and one municipality of Ethiopia; Oromia, Amhara, and Addis Ababa. ⁶¹ It was done across all stages (planning/problem definition, design, implementation, and scale).The external outcome evaluation assessed the impact of A360 on a set of primary and secondary outcomes among sexually active girls aged 15–19, including modern contraceptive prevalence rate (mCPR), unmet need for contraception, and agency to use and attitudes toward contraceptive methods.Process evaluation based app assessed the impact of A360 on a set of primary and secondary outcomes among sexually active girls aged 15–19, including modern contraceptive prevalence rate (mCPR), unmet need for contraception, and agency to use and attitudes toward contraceptive methods.Process evaluation tages outcomes and activities in made to the adopting a 24 months after implementation in 2019. ^{62,63} The external process evaluation was intended to complement this outcome evaluation, presenting an account of how A360'sProcess evaluation based app based app tages outcomes among sexually active aster outcome evaluation was intended to complement this out | S. No | Project name | Project description | | Aim of the evaluation | MLE appro |
| (A360)and deliver interventionrounds of data collection over the period of 2016–2017 in two regions and use of contraception among adolescent girlsassessed the impact of A360 on a set of primary and secondary outcomes among sexually active girls aged 15–19, includingbased app level data A360 phas encompasEvaluator:aged 15–19 in Ethiopia, ltad led the consortium for the evaluationAged 15–19 in Ethiopia, atges (planning/problem definition, atges (planning/problem definition, and agency to use implementation in late 2017 and 2019. ^{62, 63} modern contraceptive prevalence and attitudes toward contraceptive math of the sealuationstages (planning/problem definition, and attitudes toward contraceptive math of A360 withadopting a adopting a adopting a design, implementation in late 2017 and 2019. ^{62, 63} motern contraceptive prevaluation math of the sealuation, presenting and octive explore implement this and Avenir Health in the consortium.Cost-effectiveness analysis after the an account of how A360'sbased app adsed appin the consortium.cost-effectiveness analysis after the and contextan account of how A360'sbased app a set of primary and secondary a set of p | | Pro | pjects that have all componer | nts of HCD, ASRH, and MLE and have co | ompleted evaluation (i.e. including publi | ished endline |
| | 1 | (A360) Ethiopia, Nigeria, Tanzania Evaluator: Itad led the consortium for the evaluation of A360 with London School of Hygiene and Tropical Medicine and Avenir Health | and deliver interventions that increase demand for and use of contraception among adolescent girls aged 15–19 in Ethiopia, | rounds of data collection over the period of 2016–2017 in two regions and one municipality of Ethiopia; Oromia, Amhara, and Addis Ababa. ⁶¹ It was done across all stages (planning/problem definition, design, implementation, and scale). Outcome evaluation twice, before implementation in late 2017 and 24 months after implementation in 2019. ^{62, 63} | assessed the impact of A360 on a set of primary and secondary outcomes among sexually active girls aged 15–19, including modern contraceptive prevalence rate (mCPR), unmet need for contraception, and agency to use and attitudes toward contraceptive methods. The external process evaluation was intended to complement this outcome evaluation, presenting an account of how A360's | based app level data A360 phas encompas stakeholde participato activities in made to th at the scale adopting a Research o using "use explore im |

roach and framework

ne)

evaluation (PE) uses a theorypproach that included countrya collection aligned with all ases; global data collection assing interviews with key ders; and introduction of tory action research (PAR) in 2018. Adjustments were the PE approach and methods ale phase that included a United Kingdom Medical Council framework; and ser journeys" as a tool to mplementation, mechanisms, ext at the solution level.

Midterm review evaluation after implementation phase in 2019.

improve understanding of how and why A360 is making a difference and generate lessons for future policy and practice.

The external cost-effectiveness analysis examined the main cost drivers of the A360 approach and examined what it cost A360 to achieve increases in use of modern contraception and other associated measures of program effectiveness.

Outcome evaluation (OE) used preand-post-population-based, crosssectional survey design, a one-stage cluster sampling design in Nigeria as well as Ethiopia, and a two-stage cluster sampling design in Tanzania. A baseline survey was conducted in late 2017 before the start of the main A360 implementation phase, and the endline in late 2020 through mid 2021. Secondary analyses: dose-response and secular trends.

Cost-effectiveness analysis (CEA) included measurement of costs and effectiveness focused on the outcome evaluation study geographies; effectiveness was measured using indicators developed for the outcome evaluation-primarily mCPR.

Mid-term review (MTR) evaluation answered MTR questions and made recommendations for A360 and replication based on synthesis of findings and mapping learning points and implications (from PE, OE baseline findings, CEA, and MTR survey) and presented draft findings and learning points to PSI.

Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH

Findings

| 2 | Itad- Hewlett evaluation of Diva Program and Future Fab Kenya and Zambia Evaluator: Itad | Beginning in 2013, this project worked toward applying HCD to improve family planning and reproductive health (FP/RH) services for adolescent girls in Sub- Saharan Africa, which resulted in the Diva Program in Zambia and Future Fab in Kenya in 2015. In 2017, an independent evaluation of these programs was conducted in the two countries. | An independent evaluation was conducted in 2016–2017 between the implementation cycle of the Diva Program in Zambia and Future Fab in Kenya. ⁶⁴ | Feasibility, potential, and limitations of HCD as an approach, value added by different components of the HCD approach, capacity needed to introduce and implement HCD, contextual factors that enable and inhibit the successful use of HCD. To respond to the needs of primary audiences and inform future investments in HCD strategy. Generate findings and recommendations that inform other stakeholders of the applicability of HCD for FP/RH and other social sectors. ⁶⁵ | Utility-fo grounde change level, fra evaluati method (200 do with cou from the and oth country field site discussi journey worksho used ind force fie develop analysis evaluati theory, f and syn use. ⁶⁶ |
|---|--|---|---|--|--|
| 3 | (re)solve Ethiopia, Bangladesh, Burkina Faso Evaluator: Pathfinder | This is a four-year cross- disciplinary project that used data on and insights into women's and girls' barriers to contraceptive use and nonuse to design and test a unique solution set | Impact evaluation wherein baseline data collected from November 2019 to January 2020, midline data between January and February 2020, and endline data in July 2020 over the phone due to COVID-19 (was scheduled for | Evaluate whether (re)solve package of solutions changed girls' intention to use contraception, along with other behavioral and attitudinal outcomes. It aimed to evaluate the implementation process to understand how solutions were carried out and how it was | Impact of method design of 1. Baseli quantita girls (14- schools |

Jump to Endnotes

Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH

Findings

Utility-focused evaluation (UFE) grounded in testing the theory of change model and answering toplevel, framing evaluation questions. For evaluation question data collection, methods used were: document review (200 docs, emails, slides), KII (80 with country and global stakeholders from the Foundation, MSI, IDEO.org and others involved in HCD), and country visits (Kenya and Zambiafield site visits, interviews, focus group discussions (FGDs) with beneficiaries, journey mapping, and force field workshops). Analytical methods used included contribution analysis, force field analysis, organizational development and external environment analysis. Various phases of the evaluation include articulating the theory, documenting practice, analysis and synthesis, and engagement and

Impact evaluation⁶⁹ used a mixedmethods cluster randomized trial design with the following methods:

1. Baseline/midline/endline longitudinal quantitative surveys with a cohort of girls (14–18) in 4th and 3rd intervention schools and baseline/endline

| | International | in each country. | March, but was delayed). ⁶⁷ | perceived by stakeholders. ⁶⁸ | longitudinal q the same pop 2. Baseline/er depth intervie 4th and 3rd in 3. Endline qua implementatio 4. Endline KIIs authorities. Al COVID-19 on |
|-----|--|---|---|---|--|
| Pro | jects that have all co | • | E and have either not completed midlin ore, the proposed evaluation design is c | | e not been mad |
| 4 | Beyond Bias Pakistan, Tanzania, Burkina Faso Evaluator: BERI | This project aims at designing and testing scalable innovative solutions to address provider bias toward serving youth aged 15– 24 with family planning services in Burkina Faso, Pakistan, and Tanzania. | The evaluation is yet to happen. One year of implementation is complete, along with preliminary evaluation, but results will be publicly available in early 2022. | Evaluate the impact of intervention designed to reduce service provider bias towards young, married, and nulliparous women in selected geographies. "Half of the eligible clinics in each country (233 in total) are randomly assigned to receive the intervention, while the remaining half serves as control. The objective of the evaluation is to estimate the impact of the intervention on a range of outcomes related to quality of family planning care among young, unmarried, and nulliparous women." ⁷⁰ | Interventional randomized s evaluation tog to take place design phase in 227 facilitie inform the sca implementatio |

Jump to Endnotes

al quantitative surveys with population in control schools.

e/endline longitudinal inerviews with girls (14–18) in rd intervention schools.

e qualitative interviews with ntation staff.

e KIIs with experts and s. Also, collected impact of on the endline responses.

made publicly available.

onal clinical trial using ed sampling. The pilot and n together are scheduled ace after the intervention hase in three countries cilities, which in turn will e scale-up and pilot under tation.⁷¹ CyberRwanda Rwanda

5

CyberRwanda is a fouryearlong program, which aims at evaluating CyberRwanda intervention—a digital platform that aims to improve the health and livelihoods of urban and peri-urban adolescents (12-19 years) by supporting them at every step of their health care journey.

Midline and endline are yet to happen.

Evaluate two different schoolbased models of implementation to understand how to optimize the uptake of contraception and HIV testing amongst adolescents. Primary outcomes measured at the individual participation level include 1) uptake of modern contraception, 2) initiation of childbearing, and 3) HIV testing; along with data collection learning feasibility, acceptability, and implementation successes and challenges have also been proposed. Secondary objectives include measuring the impact of the intervention on a set of outcomes related to FP/RH in the following areas: knowledge, behavioral intentions, self-efficacy, social norms, and engagement in employment, education, and training.⁷²

testing.73

Jump to Endnotes

Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH

Evaluation to be conducted after a three-year intervention phase (2016-2019). A 24-month impact evaluation reportedly started in 2020 uses an experimental approach embedded in Proctor's implementation science framework. The three study arms include 1) CybeRwanda self-service, 2) CyberRwanda facilitated, and 3) control schools, which receive standard services available in the community. The evaluation uses hybrid trial type 2 effectiveness Implementation study design to determine the overall effectiveness of the digital intervention along with the relative effectiveness of two school-based implementation models, while answering two overarching policy-level questions. The second component is done through a three-arm cluster-randomized noninferiority trial (sample of 6,000 youth 12–19 years in 60 schools across eight districts in Rwanda). Primary outcome measures: Use of modern contraception, delayed initiation of childbearing, and uptake of HIV

Projects that have specific focus on increased youth integration and participation in programs, and employ various MLE approaches. These were either short-term projects, pilots, or design competitions, and were included to explore relevance of MLE from similar project types to HCD and ASRH programming.

| Program Program focused on the realization of children's rights, on closing the equity gap between majority and minority and minority and Egyptians), and on addressing gender, age, and geographical disparities (rural versus urban). from January 2016 and March 2020. ⁷⁴ totality of the Kosovo Program, focusing on the relevance of UNICEF's program potfolio and approaches taken (including ross-cutting issues and with special attention to youth-focused activities and their long-term impact), as well as UNICEF's position and priorities. 1. Pre-dimensional and their long-term impact), as well as UNICEF's position and priorities (rural versus urban). 2. Pre-dimensional priorities and their long-term impact), as well as UNICEF's position and priorities. 3. Primination of the explored mark the implementation of the 2021-2025 Kosovo Program. The findings and recommendations of this evaluation would strategically inform the implementation of the evaluation criteria included relevance, efficiency, effectiveness, sustainability, and synergies. 3. Primination of the evaluation and to provide additional insights into the adolescent development and participation (ADAP) component, which was not evaluated thematically. It had a special focus on the adolescent development and participation (ADAP) component, which was not evaluated thematically. It had a special focus on the adolescent development and participation (ADAP) component, which was not evaluated thematically. It had a special focus on the relevance of the second component, which was not evaluated thematically. It had a special focus on the relevance of the second component, which was not evaluated thematically. It had a special focus on the relevance of the matically. It had a special focus on the relevance of the second component, which was not evaluated thematically. It had a special focus on the relevance of thematically. It had a sp | | | | | | |
|--|---|--|--|-----------------------------|---|--|
| unie n | 6 | Program Kosovo Evaluator: UNICEF Europe and Central Asia | Program focused on the realization of children's rights, on closing the equity gap between majority and minority groups (Roma, Ashkali, and Egyptians), and on addressing gender, age, and geographical disparities (rural versus | from January 2016 and March | totality of the Kosovo Program, focusing on the relevance of UNICEF's program portfolio and approaches taken (including cross-cutting issues and with special attention to youth-focused activities and their long-term impact), as well as UNICEF's position and priorities chosen in response to emerging needs and Kosovo's Institutional priorities. The findings and recommendations of this evaluation would strategically inform the implementation of the 2021-2025 Kosovo Program. The key evaluation criteria included relevance, efficiency, effectiveness, sustainability, and synergies. The tracer study conducted as part of this evaluation aimed to provide additional insights into the adolescent development and participation (ADAP) component, which was not evaluated thematically. It had a special focus | The evaluence of the ev |

Jump to Endnotes

The evaluation process used a mixedmethods approach which drew on four general sources of information across levels of stakeholders:

existing documentation (policies, reports, external research)

existing quantitative or tive information (national level graphic indicators, program or measurement, UNICEF's al data sets)

ary qualitative information from ews

ary qualitative information ted by the youth tracer study, outh surveys).

ss was adjusted to account VID-19 and subsequent travel tions. As a result, the evaluation shift to a full remote approach in KIIs, FGDs, and surveys lone over virtual platforms. d to extra organization and anagement. A total of 121 KIIs,

| | | | | with youth (UPSHIFT, PODIUM, and PONDER). ⁷⁵ | 32 youth coh and an additi 4,000 partici individuals) w |
|---|---|--|--|--|--|
| 7 | Young@Heart Uganda and Vietnam Evaluators: Beneficiaries (youth) | This project, commissioned by Oxfam, took a youth-centered approach and put young women and men at the heart of project design, implementation, and evaluation. | In the form of labs, time period not mentioned | The one-year pilot was implemented in Uganda and Vietnam, and was designed around three main "Labs": Exploration Lab, Innovation Lab, and Influencing Lab. This enabled young people to first identify the key issues limiting their potential and then develop action plans and collaborate with others in the community to make a positive difference. Specific aims and objectives of the evaluation component are not mentioned in the reviewed documents, nor are they publicly available. | During the Ex- of young peop M&E techniq with smartph recorders, and Specifically in Ho joined Ox- organizations of reflection. built into the which enable the successe project, reflect during it, and This project so their audience for the first the was no existing which to built Evaluation, A Learning, or the evaluation data |

cohort FGDs (tracer study), Iditional virtual survey to ticipants (completed by 486 s) were conducted virtually.⁷⁶

e Exploration Lab, groups people were trained on niques, and were equipped tphones, cameras, voice , and survey questions."⁷⁷

ly in Vietnam, Ech Phu Oxfam and the other ions in the coalition for a day on. This evaluation day was the initial project planning, abled all partners to identify sses and challenges of the effect on key issues that arose and to mark its close.⁷⁸

ect saw Ech Phu Ho engage ence on tax justice issues at time. This meant there kisting baseline data on build a solid Monitoring, n, Accountability, and or MEAL, plan. During the n day, participants reflected



Jump to Endnotes

that it would have been beneficial to have monitored engagement levels throughout the project, particularly any increase in interest from previously unengaged groups. However, there were no measurement indicators for what triggered young people to engage with the campaign, which are crucial for the project.⁷⁹

No evaluation framework or methods were used as such. However, the success of the program and anecdotal evidence around program benefits have been documented, giving space for evaluation (especially long-term outcome measurement). For example, there was an acknowledgement that long-term effects could not be screened yet, but UNDP and local government and youth leaders were constantly trying to understand the "long-term benefits." The design facilitators witnessed increased motivation and persistence, resulting in successful implementation of 50 percent of the solutions designed by participants themselves.^{80, 81}

MLE approaches and learnings from select projects

Below are five case summaries that have been chosen to illustrate in detail the way the measurement and evaluation process was undertaken in the context of HCD+ASRH programming, and some lessons from each experience. In particular, these summaries showcase the integration of different approaches, methods, and techniques employed to meet the unique purposes of MLE for each project and the challenges and learnings from each experience. The case summaries are divided into two types: 1) projects that have all components of HCD, ASRH, MLE and have completed evaluation, including the endline which has been published and made available in the public domain; and 2) projects that have all components of HCD, ASRH, MLE and have either not completed midline/ endline or the evaluation results have not been made publicly available.



MLE approaches and learnings from select projects

Case 1: Adolescents 360

Project description

A360 was a four-and-a-half-year investment funded by the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and Children's Investment Fund Foundation (CIFF)⁸² and implemented by PSI.⁸³ It aimed to design and deliver interventions that increase demand for and use of contraception among adolescent girls aged 15–19 in Ethiopia, Nigeria, and Tanzania.⁸⁴ A360's MERL strategy emphasized continuous quality program improvement to strengthen the project's interventions to better respond to adolescent girls' experiences and to generate impact. A360 applied HCD in its formative research phase to

design resonant interventions. It then embraced adaptive implementation moving into its implementation phase as a way to retain a human-centered focus in implementation and continue to refine its interventions post-design phase.

The program integrates public health, adolescent developmental science, cultural anthropology, social marketing, meaningful youth engagement, and HCD to build country-specific AYSRH interventions. A360's key approach is the use of mixed-methods data collection strategies to support rapid course correction. This was done so that adaptations were informed not only by quantitative performance but also the experiences of girls, providers, and health system partners. Data sources that informed adaptation included routine performance data (generated primarily through government health management information systems), client exit interviews, mystery client surveys, youth PAR, and ethnographic research, among others.

Alongside these routine MLE processes, A360 was evaluated through external process, outcome, and costeffectiveness evaluations implemented by Itad, London School of Hygiene & Tropical Medicine, and Avenir Health, respectively. A360's external outcome evaluation assessed the impact of A360 on a set of primary and secondary outcomes among sexually active girls aged 15–19—including mCPR, unmet need for contraception and agency to

use, and attitudes toward contraceptive methods. A360's external process evaluation was intended to complement this outcome evaluation, presenting an account of how A360's implementation has played out to improve understanding of how and why A360 is making a difference and generate lessons for future policy and practice.

A360's external cost-effectiveness analysis examined the main cost drivers of the approach and examined what it cost A360 to achieve increases in use of modern contraception and other associated measures of program effectiveness.

Approach to measurement and evaluation

The A360 project was designed to integrate measurement from the beginning across its four key phases: 1) inquiry, 2) insight synthesis, 3) prototyping, and 4) adaptive implementation. The funders commissioned an independent evaluation that "sought to answer whether an HCD process could deliver a larger program impact than 'standard normal' youth programming."85 The program's external evaluation consisted of PE, quasi-experimental

outcome, and a cost-effectiveness study. Measurement was undertaken to inform implementation and enable timely and evidence-based course corrections, assess program impact, generate learning on how to reach adolescent girls cost-effectively at scale, and to learn about how design works in practice.

Process evaluation: The primary aim of the PE was to "present a descriptive and analytical account of how the implementation of A360 has played out, with the aim of improving understanding of how and why A360 is making a difference, to generate lessons for future policy and practice."86 The specific PE objectives were to: 1) provide analysis and learning to support adaptive management and course correction; 2) evaluate how the A360 approach played out in implementation; 3) investigate how A360 had interfaced with the different contexts in which it was implemented; 4) evaluate the

Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH

experience of A360 among adolescents and community members and how it affected perceptions and opinions about adolescent use of contraception; and 5) investigate how solutions have been operationalized and their feasibility for scale-up and replication.⁸⁷ The PE, grounded in A360's theory of change (ToC), focused on four areas of inquiry: 1) process, 2) context, 3) experience, and 4) solution.⁸⁸

The early phases of the PE focused on qualitative research generated through design research, data analysis, and interpretation and synthesis. Evaluators documented the design process (e.g., introducing prototyping report cards to gather multi-stakeholder feedback) to document and present the results and learnings of different design phases and assess them against set parameters: desirability, feasibility, sustainability, and scalability. The PE adopted atypical methods inspired by HCD techniques. For instance, PAR was undertaken with the aim of assisting implementers in rapidly understanding beneficiaries' "actual experience" against the intended user journey.⁸⁹ PAR exercises were undertaken on an ad-hoc basis, in line with the needs of the implementing teams—through rapid, light-touch data collection and analysis, which were independently conducted by the evaluation team.⁹⁰ The program observed that methodologies such as PAR may identify PE questions that are more relevant for the implementers. Participatory youth research⁹¹ was trialed in Ethiopia and Tanzania during the pilot and optimization phases, where girls were trained as peer researchers, engaged in co-creating interview questions, and encouraged to interview their peers about the A360 intervention. The group also undertook 1) critical group reflection methodologies to promote dialogue over findings between the peer researchers, 2) role plays to enhance understanding of the interview questions and consent process, as well as unpacking some of the issues raised through data collection, and 3) visual storytelling through the form of drawings to explore and validate the findings from the peer research. The team also adopted "report cards."⁹²

The PE team adopted an HCD-inspired "user journey approach" to structure the approach to inquiry. This approach allowed them to assess how girls were navigating, experiencing, and benefiting from the intervention, which was seen to be very specific to test as opposed to an overarching ToC. This approach is similar to "journey maps"—a systematic process used in HCD research and user experience design to document serviceuser touchpoints with an intervention, capturing the user's physical and

emotional journey, including behavior, feelings, motivations, and attitudes. It was therefore chosen as an alternative to country-level ToCs or logic models.⁹³

The early stages of the A360 PE focused on exploring and understanding the A360 approach, with a growing emphasis on the solutions as they were prototyped and piloted. With the transition into the scale-up phase and streamlining of solutions, the PE shifted to a more detailed investigation of each solution in its content and how it was being implemented. The solutions also constantly evolved throughout the HCD process as well as the adaptive implementation process in each country, presenting challenges in differentiating between what was intended versus what was implemented. In response to these challenges, "user journeys" were used and explored the following at the solution level:

- Implementation: The user journeys provided a detailed description of each solution and the touchpoints between the solution and adolescent girls and were used to explore:
- 0 Fidelity and adaptation: How far were solutions being implemented according to the "spirit" of the solutions? What was being adapted and why? Were adaptations in line with PSI's adaptive implementation framework and adaptation guidelines? What have been the consequences of adaptations?
- Dose: Number of touchpoints girls have with the solution, the proportion of participants accessing each touchpoint, and the extent to which solution components were being delivered in the planned numbers, districts, and sites.
- **Reach:** How many girls were participating in A360 activities? Who is participating, from which

groups, and how representative was this of the population of girls?

Mechanisms of impact: User journeys helped the team investigate the causal assumptions within the solutions about how and why certain activities triggered change, which would help map out how and why each element of the solution was expected to contribute to the outcomes in the behavior change pathway. Together with PSI, the mechanisms of investigation were prioritized to build understanding of how and why the solutions were (or were not) working.

٠

Context: User journeys helped deepdive into how specific contextual factors affected specific aspects of the solution, helping mitigate the challenge that was faced throughout the PE of how to meaningfully integrate contextual analysis into data collection and findings.

The user-journey tool was reportedly more intuitive to program teams, who could build on existing program thinking, as they used user journey language and terminology instead of ToCs in their strategy and design documentation.⁹⁴ Also the tool provided a relatively simple way to visually depict each model for a country-level solution at specific times over the course of the project, and allowed easy and rapid documentation of adaptations, enabling distinction between unplanned "drifts" away from implementation fidelity.⁹⁵

The PE team faced challenges during the intervention development stage "as the fast-paced, highly iterative HCD process meant that the 'design energy,' i.e., how decisions were made at key points in the design process, often went undocumented."⁹⁶ This required the PE team to be flexible "in order to align closely with the work plan of the implementers," and "methodologies such as direct participant observation were key to capturing the depth of the HCD process."⁹⁷ During the design of the PE, the intention was to allow the findings to inform the intervention design at key moments. In reality; however, there was limited uptake of PE findings by implementers due to the pace of the program.⁹⁸ To mitigate this, PE introduced "sounding workshops" and PAR case studies alongside existing activities.⁹⁹

Outcome evaluation: The primary objective of the outcome evaluation was to assess the impact of A360 on mCPR among sexually active girls aged 15–19. The secondary objectives included evaluating the impact of A360 on fertility rates; age at first birth; unmet need for modern contraception; and girls' knowledge of modern contraceptives, agency to use them, and attitudes towards them. The outcome evaluation of A360 used a pre- and post-population-based, cross-sectional survey design, which included a comparison group in Nigeria. The methodology for primary analysis included comparing the proportion of sexually active girls who report using modern contraception at baseline and endline. Dose-response and secular trends were the approaches adopted for secondary analyses.

In the early stages of conducting the impact evaluation, researchers reported that the baseline evaluation of the intervention involving HCD as one of the interdisciplinary approaches did not set clear parameters of control and was increasingly open-ended, leading to many uncertainties around what needs to be answered through the program.¹⁰⁰ Evaluators observed that the challenge was to find ways to deal with this uncertainty while still retaining scientific rigor.¹⁰¹ A main challenge in designing the outcome

evaluation for A360 was "that when the outcome evaluation study protocols and data collection tools were being developed, the A360 project was in the mid-stages of intervention development" and "key pieces of information about the intervention components and the theory of change were unclear and changed over the protocol development period. There was concern about the final intervention package being significantly different from the earlier prototypes, and how the study protocol and data collection tools for the baseline study may not be as well tailored to the intervention, as if the final package of interventions was known in advance."¹⁰² Finally, this led to multiple challenges due to which programmers had to spend more time to coordinate on building evaluation tools.¹⁰³ The uncertainties in key study design parameters meant that the evaluation team had to develop multiple study design scenarios, which were

repeatedly revised as new information came to light.

Although the value-add of HCD was to drive the idea of "putting the adolescent girl at the center," it did raise concerns about feasibility and scalability of the prototypes being tested.¹⁰⁴ While the approach itself was youth-centered, occasional questions did crop up around how meaningful such an addition was to the program.¹⁰⁵ Evaluators observed that A360 did not design for solution implementers (or service providers) who were key actors in ensuring the success of the program.¹⁰⁶ Additional work had to go into the optimization phase to understand service providers' perspectives and adapt the implementation accordingly.¹⁰⁷ Yet, A360 increased providers' empathy toward young people and designing programs in a youth-centered manner.¹⁰⁸

Cost effectiveness analysis: Led by Avenir Health, this evaluation examined the main cost drivers of the A360 approach, and investigated the costeffectiveness of A360 in relation to other methods of solution design. Measurement of costs and effectiveness focused on the outcome evaluation study geographies, and effectiveness is measured using indicators developed for the outcome evaluation—primarily mCPR.^{109, 110}

The cost-effectiveness study faced challenges related to the flexible and iterative nature of the HCD process that increased the number of unknown costs.¹¹¹ Measuring the total design cost and isolating the cost of HCD specifically was difficult in the costeffectiveness evaluation, "as HCD activities of the design process were tightly intertwined with the other A360 'lenses.'"112

Adaptive implementation: At a later stage, A360 introduced an adaptive management and learning approach (adaptive implementation) that encouraged continued iteration and optimization of the full-scale interventions based on periodic data collected using a standard set of questions addressed to adolescent girls, health workers, and other stakeholders and triangulating different data sources. As the project moved into implementation in 2018, it embraced adaptive implementation (an adaptive management and learning approach) as a way to continue its human-centered focus in implementation. It continued to revise its hypotheses and iterate and optimize full-scale interventions based on periodic data collected using a standard set of questions addressed to adolescent girls, health workers, and other stakeholders, and triangulating different data sources.¹¹³ The project found that adaptive implementation is uniquely aligned

with principles of HCD. While HCD and adaptive implementation differ in their methodological approaches, they share a few key traits. Both are guided by girls' voices, perspectives, and experiences; conducted in partnership with girls, government, and other partners; and informed by the global evidence base and a variety of disciplinary lenses. Both cultivate a culture of curiosity and inquiry to inform improvement through iteration. Both orient teams to the use of data and field-based research.¹¹⁴

Observations: Overall, evaluators observed that like HCD, an iterative and adaptive PE approach is useful for evaluating HCD and its outcomes. In the design process, the hypothesis surrounding the intervention and the solutions change as the project evolves. This requires a fluid approach to measurement, which cannot only use fixed metrics but also must be flexible and adaptive. Program implementers and evaluators note that evaluation in this context is not just looking back and counting what happened, but rather learning how to use data to help people think and problem solve along the way.¹¹⁵ Evaluators need to be flexible and adaptable, willing to make changes to the approach, and amenable to shifting timelines and to moving things around, as the design process is fast moving and adaptable and evaluation needs to mirror that.

Jump to Endnotes

"The thing that supported evaluation was being involved from the beginning and being in the room as much as possible in the design phase. In trying to evaluate the HCD approach, it is really challenging to do that, if you are not a kind of a participant observer in the design phase. The way that processes and decisions are documented during the design phase is auite different from how evaluators would document these. There is a lot of innovation and adaptation, but it can be hard to reconstruct a journey. The more we are able to be present, the more we're able to help build up learnings and reflect back what's working and not working."¹¹⁶

The A360 program implementers recommend that evaluators, implementers, and designers take time to familiarize themselves with the methodologies used by the different disciplines¹¹⁷ for better conceptual mediation. It suggests that close coordination among measurement, design, and implementing teams is critical from the initiation of the project and that, in particular, PE teams work alongside implementers to ensure that findings are timed to feed into key decisions.¹¹⁸ The program recommends that future HCD-based initiatives should consider a phased evaluation, focusing initially on program theory refinement and PE, and then, when the intervention program details are clearer, following with outcome evaluation and costeffectiveness analysis.¹¹⁹ They caution that a phased evaluation approach is not easy—it needs balancing against the disadvantages of delaying the outcome evaluation baseline.¹²⁰

"We now know that monitoring and evaluation systems should not be finalized until the design period has ended, so that teams can build monitoring indicators that reflect the full breadth and value of the interventions that teams have designed. And we understand that process indicators are far more relevant and valuable as a performance 'metric' during the design phase. Plus, evaluation methods work best when they match an intervention's technical design. That, too, is best done after the design phase, when the interventions can be fully understood and so that evaluations fully speak to them."121

MLE approaches and learnings from select projects

Case 2: The Hewlett Foundation evaluation of Diva Program and Future Fab by Itad

Project description

The Hewlett Foundation (the Foundation) supported IDEO.org and Marie Stopes International (MSI) to apply HCD to improve FP and RH services for adolescent girls in Sub-Saharan Africa. The partnership began with Marie Stopes Zambia (MSZ) initially, resulting in the Diva Program—"a multi-touchpoint service that helps adolescent girls in urban Lusaka access the contraception they need to take control of their bodies and their futures through the Diva Centres and The Divine Divas."¹²² Launched in 2014, the Diva Centres are a space where girls can do their nails while having informal

conversations about boys and sex, learn about contraception from trained peers, and receive counselling and access to a variety of short- and longterm birth control methods in a safe and judgment-free environment from a trained professional. The Centres are supported by a teen-focused brand, The Divine Divas, which helps girls connect long-term contraceptives with their future aspirations.¹²³ In 2015, the Foundation funded similar work with Marie Stopes Kenya (MSK), resulting in the development of Future Fab. This adolescent lifestyle brand, focused in five regions across Kenya, offers

a new way to talk to local teens, their communities, and their health care providers about the value of contraception.¹²⁴ It was designed to have three components:

- Activate: Community dialogues and events that build excitement about youth and acceptance of contraceptives in the community
- Engage: Meet-ups (with girls and ٠ parents separately) to educate about sexual health and contraceptive choices
- Deliver: Access to safe and friendly services for young people¹²⁵

In 2017, the Foundation commissioned Itad to independently evaluate these programs in Zambia and Kenya. The overall purpose of this evaluation was to respond to the needs of the primary audiences—the Foundation, MSI, and IDEO.org—and inform future investments in HCD strategy, program design, and implementation. The secondary purpose was to generate findings and recommendations that informed other stakeholders of the applicability of HCD for FP/RH and other social sectors. This secondary purpose was supported by the creation of an Evaluation Advisory Committee

(EAC), comprising the primary audience and representatives of other donors also supporting HCD initiatives.¹²⁶ The evaluation sought to answer the following evaluation questions (EQs):

- Does HCD work and why?
- What external and internal factors affect its uptake and success?

Also, the specific objectives of this evaluation were to better understand the:

 Feasibility, potential, and limitations of HCD as an approach

- Value added by the different components of the HCD approach
- Capacity needed to introduce and implement HCD
- Contextual factors that enable and inhibit the successful use of HCD

Approach to measurement and evaluation

Itad took a theory-based, formative, and utility-focused evaluation¹²⁷ that was grounded in testing the ToC for HCD and answering the associated top-level EQs. The evaluation had four phases: 1) articulating the theory, 2)

documenting practice, 3) analysis and synthesis, and 4) engagement and use. The evaluation framework for this study was based on articulating the theory behind using HCD to improve FP/RH services for adolescent girls in SubSaharan Africa. The team invested time in understanding and spelling out the different phases of and craft behind the HCD process to develop a ToC for the HCD process. This was developed and agreed upon collaboratively with the

Foundation, IDEO.org, and MSI, drawing on explicit and implicit theories that these stakeholders had articulated in setting up their partnership on HCD.

The ToC described how the joint work between MSI and IDEO.org, as partners with different areas of expertise, should increase uptake of FP/RH services by adolescent girls, leading to better ASRH. The ToC rests on the Foundation's overarching hypothesis that bringing together partners with different perspectives and expertise can solve persistent problems in ASRH.¹²⁸

Three data collection methods were used in Phase 2:

- Document review: Extensive review of over 300 documents, emails, and slide decks
- Key informant interviews: Over 80 Klls with country and global

stakeholders from the Foundation, MSI, IDEO.org, and those involved with or exposed to HCD in other contexts

 Country visits: Two country visits in each country, including site visits, interviews, FGDs with beneficiaries, journey mapping, and force field workshops



Overview of evaluation approach

The following analytical methods were employed to answer the EQs:

Contribution analysis: The ToC analysis required a number of steps that form part of the contribution analysis: 1) Set out the attribution problem to be addressed; 2) Develop a ToC and risks to it; 3) Gather the existing evidence on the ToC; 4) Assemble and assess the contribution story, and challenges to it; 5) Seek out additional evidence; 6) Revise and strengthen the contribution story. This ToC analysis provided the basis for contribution analysis, enabling the team to address questions on the relative value of individual components of the HCD-designed solutions.¹²⁹

Force field analysis: As a result of limited documentation on the processes undertaken in the two program sites, the evaluation team conducted in-country workshops with key stakeholders from MSK and MSZ. The workshops used interactive and visual techniques to work through their experience of the HCD process and build conclusive insights based on consensus. The visuals and the data generated through the workshops were then discussed and refined through three virtual workshops, one with the Foundation and two with IDEO.org. As a result, the workshop as part of the in-country visit enabled further documentation and understanding of the HCD process (including enablers and constraints) and its application in the design of Diva Centres (MSZ) as well as Future Fab (MSK), and refinement of the ToC.¹³⁰

Organizational development and external environment analysis: The 7S model of organizational effectiveness guided the team's approach to questions of capacity development needed for the different stages of HCD through aligning findings with the following seven areas: strategy, structure, systems, shared values, skills, style, and staff.¹³¹

Findings from the evaluation suggest that "HCD-designed solutions appear to be more effective than other solutions at reaching urban adolescents, but, given the limited sample and lack of appropriate comparisons, this can be considered only a tentative conclusion."¹³² There is evidence that HCD worked in these two program contexts to increase uptake of FP/RH services in among (largely) unmarried girls in urban areas; however, less evidence was found of its ability to design sustainable solutions quickly at scale.¹³³ Several factors have been reported as contributing to the success of the HCD-experiment in these programs:

Partnership-related factors: It's critical for partners to articulate clear objectives and measures of success upfront in a strong brief and evaluate against them; re-visit these at certain intervals as partnership contexts evolve; thoroughly "onboard" new players in the partnership to set right expectations; and set clarity on the required resources to deliver the solutions, within and across organizations. Minimizing the extent of changes in staffing during an HCD process is also critical for HCD partnerships, along with flexibility in contracting. Changes in staffing needs to be mitigated through clear documentation of process and decision-making, and multi-partner grants should be structured for greater clarity on roles, responsibilities, and accountabilitiy from the start.

Solutions-related factors: The evaluation reports that both solutions were designed for an urban context, even though in both countries the focus at first was explicitly rural, because of which it has been challenging for them to be applied to all of MSI's channels. Therefore, "if progress against the design challenge is not continually reviewed, and if the design challenge is not sufficiently clear and explicit on target audiences/segments, there is a risk that HCD will focus on populations that are easier to reach within

fieldwork that is usually undertaken in a two- to three-week period."¹³⁴ A stronger preparation phase with a clear design brief, as well as the maturation of the long-term partnership between MSI and IDEO.org is reported to enable better understanding of the constraints and opportunities within delivery channels for IDEO.org. Analysis of KII responses suggests "a misunderstanding about the focus of the HCD process, which is to design

solutions that work and not to design innovative solutions per se."¹³⁵

Also, an opposing view on criticisms made about lack of innovation as a result of HCD have been addressed by clarifying that the partnership produced a "recipe" for mobilizing, engaging, and providing services to adolescent girls, with an emphasis on the user experience; which has the potential to be adapted for other contexts with

similar target segments and population needs. Some friction between the partners around expectations about when (at what stage of the HCD process) and how quickly a scalable, sustainable solution will be reached was reported, which becomes critical to be addressed upfront in HCD partnerships, and as part of a more robust M&E plan.¹³⁶

HCD-related factors:

- Preparation: Evidence suggests that the preparation phase in both programs received insufficient attention, which impacted the subsequent phases and processes. The evaluation team concluded that "this is a critical area to address in future applications of HCD, and as a crucial counterpoint to the inherent ambiguity of the design process."¹³⁷
- **Inspiration**: Design research was not seen to be credible in the two contexts, and was reported to not meet the needs of MSI. The evaluation team recommends that this can be addressed by marrying design research with more indepth ethnographic research, as is happening in the Sahel, and communicating inspiration as more

of an ongoing process rather than merely a component.

• Ideation: Evidence suggests that ideation was reported to be necessary and valuable. However, synthesis of findings in IDEO.org's San Francisco office was termed to be a "black box," in that the process was not fully understood by

stakeholders. Also, the evaluation reported that substantial work was needed to bring MSI up to speed on ideation, and to manage pressure points around transitions during ideation, including ensuring appropriate M&E systems are in place to inform decision-making.¹³⁸

 Implementation: During the implementation phase, roles shift and accountability increases. The evaluation reports misalignment around expectations from the implementation phase with the language of "implementation" for development practitioners meaning that the solution should be "done and dusted," which is in contrast from an HCD viewpoint.¹³⁹

The team faced several challenges during the evaluation and actively worked with partners to mitigate them. The evaluation team had limited opportunities to observe the HCD process being implemented, along with limited ability to track (firsthand) the HCD process in each country. The high turnover of staff at MSK and IDEO.org also limited the team's ability to interview people that had been involved in the HCD process. As a result, the team tracked down, as far as feasible, program members in both countries who were involved in the earlier HCD stages, and focused their inquiry on Kenya in the latter stages of the HCD process, where there were more key informants and better documentation. They also joined the Zambia "design sprint" during Phase 1, visited IDEO.org's San Francisco office, and took part in a mini design challenge, and explored other opportunities to observe HCD in other contexts, e.g., drawing on experience with A360.

Insufficient documentation of the HCD process in both countries made it challenging for the team to construct a detailed map of the respective HCD processes undertaken. As a result, the team supplemented data collection with email correspondence, tailored interview guides to gather information relevant for mapping the HCD process, conducted journey mapping workshops in each country, and consulted the Foundation, IDEO.org, and other MSI stakeholders remotely on the findings. The team mitigated potential biases by sampling from a wide range of respondents and triangulating perspectives. Interviews were carried out using a semi-structured interview guide and wherever possible interviewers probed for concrete examples and documentation.¹⁴⁰

Another challenge encountered by the team was around the identification of suitable comparison projects in Zambia and Kenya. They had planned to compare the change seen in Kenya within Future Fab to the change witnessed in service delivery sites that IPAS supports. However, they could not secure comparative IPAS data. A similar comparison was not possible for Zambia due to lack of a comparable model. The team did explore options for comparison models in Zambia, but these were not considered to be suitable.

Small sample size was another limitation hindering the generalizability of data. The team spoke with a limited number of girls in Kenya and Zambia. However, the FGDs were of limited value because the numbers were small; not many of the participants provided information that was useful for the evaluation; and in Kenya, awareness of Future Fab was generally low. This was raised as a potential concern in the inception report, and in subsequent discussions it was decided that the team would not speak with more girls given the limited value this was seen as adding to the evaluation findings.¹⁴¹

In response to these evaluation findings and conclusions, 11 specific recommendations grouped into three main related categories were articulated:

Continue and embed

- Develop clear guidance for using HCD in partnership settings for use at the start of a new HCD partnership to help explain potential risks and mitigating strategies.
- Strengthen the credibility of research in HCD through: 1) commissioning more robust qualitative research to inform the inspiration process; or 2) IDEO.org upskilling in the collection, analysis, and synthesis of large amounts of qualitative data, and allocating more time to research, particularly in rural contexts.



Monitor, learn, and adapt

- Promote shared understanding that the implementation phase involves iteration and learning and that undue pressure during piloting could choke innovation and kill ideas with potential.
- Communicate at an early stage (during live prototyping) what can be expected of the pilot

phase, and consider any potential implementation constraints.

- Undertake a well-designed impact evaluation of the application of HCD that incorporates a wider sample with clearer comparisons.
- Establish goals for capacity building early in the project. Identify who

the HCD "learners" are at MSI, and work with in-country management to evaluate the existing capabilities of these learners.

 Develop a strategy to communicate the results of the experiment of applying HCD in the FP/RH sector to the wider sector.

Act now

- Pay greater attention in the preparation phase to: 1) establish clear understanding of innovation appetite and associated risks; 2) develop a shared understanding of goals and what constitutes success, including in relation to considering the questions of sustainability (viability) and scale (feasibility); and 3) clarify working arrangements.
- Ensure synthesis of insights and the process of prototyping are more inclusive and discursive, explicit, and well documented. IDEO.org should complete synthesis in country, together with MSI staff, or find ways to ensure MSI staff are front and center during ideation.
- At the start of the project, both partners should co-create an M&E

- strategy that defines outcomes that will be measured during live prototyping, and those that will measure the success of the solution.
- Continue to build on recent successes in applying a more robust behaviour change lens to programming in MSI, and extend this to a deeper understanding of structural constraints and norms.

MLE approaches and learnings from select projects

Case 3: (re)solve¹⁴²

Project description

(re)solve began in 2016 in Bangladesh, Burkina Faso, and Ethiopia. The project is led by Pathfinder International in partnership with Camber Collective, International Center for Research on Women (ICRW), and ideas42. The project "develops new and innovative solutions that can be effectively applied

to improved decision-making about the use and continuation of modern contraception while gaining insights on fertility preferences, method-specific perspectives, the role of men and masculinity, gender and household dynamics."¹⁴³ (re)solve takes a crossdisciplinary approach to challenge

current assumptions and tests new approaches based on context-specific behavioral insights. It generates adaptable and scalable solutions that address unmet needs for family planning.¹⁴⁴

Approach to measurement and evaluation

The MLE approach incorporated mixed-methods impact evaluation to assess the effectiveness of the solution in each country. The plan was to implement research studies in each country. However, due to contextual

challenges associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, the project was unable to proceed with implementation and evaluation of the (re)solve solution set in Bangladesh. In Ethiopia, implementation and evaluation activities have been delayed due to COVID-19 and political conflict in the country.

The evaluation aimed to understand whether the (re)solve package of solutions changed girls' intentions to

use contraception, along with other behavioral and attitudinal changes.¹⁴⁵ The research team collected baseline data between November 2019 and January 2020. Following this, the evaluation team collected midline data in person between January and February 2020. Endline data were collected in March and July 2020 over the phone due to the COVID-19 pandemic. The primary analysis was based on the "intention-to-treat" principle.¹⁴⁶ The primary outcome of interest was the intention to use contraception in the following three months.¹⁴⁷ The secondary outcome of interest included "attitudes and beliefs related to contraception, such as the belief that contraception causes infertility."148 The evaluation team used generalized estimating equations (GEEs) for the main analysis to examine the impact of the intervention on the primary outcome of interest through the endline data. The team

examined the association between key sociodemographic and attitudinal predictors and the primary outcomes through a regression framework.¹⁴⁹

The team developed a range of "pause and reflect" activities implemented by the project to document the process of design, key decisions, adaptations, and innovative solution sets using an HCD approach. Solutions and adaptations were context-specific, as they varied from one country to the other. Some of these have been captured below:^{150, 151, 152}

- After-action reviews (AARS): AARs helped capture the reflections of the process of collaboration and coordination.
- Decision/reflection (D/R) memos: D/R memos support capture of the decision and reflection process related to five predetermined decisions for (re)solve: 1) determine

the population for DHS and segmentation studies/broad target population for (re)solve; 2) determine targeted subpopulation(s) and problem(s); 3) determine key behavioral drivers to target; 4) select designs to prototype; and 5) determine whether piloting is needed and/or which solutions will be formally evaluated.

 Creative tension memos (CTMs): Within each year of the project, a series of CTMs will be developed. The topics of these memos will be collectively decided on by all partners, but ICRW and Pathfinder will oversee developing the initial set of ideas. These memos will surface and discuss predicted or spontaneous tensions that occur throughout the project, beyond what is captured in the predetermined D/R points. These memos will be created based on a series of email

conversations, written documents, and calls during which the creative tensions will be discussed and reflected upon.

- Pulse taking: Gauge progress during implementation to understand how frontline workers are adapting solutions, how, and why.
- Country-specific ToCs and MEL plans (including RCTs): Use these to

Impact evaluation

The primary hypothesis was that "girls...who were exposed to the board game and given a health passport to facilitate follow-up at health center would be more likely to report accurate perceptions about sex and contraception, form intentions that match their risk status—such as intent to use contraception—and seek more information and/or contraceptive

services at a health center, compared to similar girls who were not exposed to this solution."153

The evaluation team used a mixedmethods cluster randomized trial (CRT) design with:

 Baseline/midline/endline longitudinal quantitative surveys with a cohort of girls aged 14–18 in the 4th and

3rd levels in intervention schools and baseline/endline longitudinal quantitative surveys with the same population in control schools.

- Baseline/endline longitudinal IDIs with girls aged 14–18 in 4th and 3rd levels in intervention schools.
- Endline gualitative interviews with

inform country-specific routine M&E design.

 Technical deliverables: Products such as Camber Collective's literature reviews and segmentation analyses, ideas42's landscape analyses, problem diagnosis reports and prototyping reports, and ICRW's impact evaluation reports were developed to be used in the M&E process as reference documents, as

Jump to Endnotes

needed. They provide background information on decisions and dynamics captured in AARs, DRMs, CTMs, and pulse taking. These deliverables will have embedded questions or sections that aim to capture a reflection on the activity, and this material can be used by the person developing the DRM or the CTM, or any other M&E source.

implementation staff; and + endline KIIs with experts and authorities.¹⁵⁴

Scaling up (re)solve and future evaluations require "close coordination between and oversight of the Ministries of Health and Education to ensure successful integration and implementation."¹⁵⁵ Behavioral solutions such as the game, health passport, and poster help "complement existing demand generation interventions and connect girls to youth-friendly health facilities" for SRH related queries, knowledge, and education.¹⁵⁶

Some challenges surrounded the evaluation of (re)solve's implementation. Follow-up at health centers was hampered. This could have attenuated the impact of the intervention on outcome of intention use, as fewer girls must have gone to the health facilities and formed intentions.¹⁵⁷ The implementation itself was reportedly staggered and due to this, several tweaks were made to it that influenced differential game playing and follow-up experiences between the two cities in Burkina Faso.¹⁵⁸

One challenge was that health care providers trained by Pathfinder held biases toward "a more favorable impression of (re)solve than was achieved."¹⁵⁹ Their formative, preimplementation behavioral-diagnosis data "indicated that girls would be sexually active, we did not find this to be true in our evaluation data."¹⁶⁰ Intervention tweaks were mostly related to addressing some of the implementation challenges on the ground, not HCD issues specifically. However, insights from behavioral diagnosis, a key component of the HCD for health process, showed that young girls were sexually active based on a small number of qualitative interviews.

Results from the evaluation study that was conducted on a large and representative sample of young school girls indicated that this was not the case.

"Conceptualization and measurement of the proximate and distal determinants of intention to use contraception is notoriously challenging...especially in a young population."¹⁶¹ Even after developing a ToC, with rigorous measuring, they were unable to measure every aspect and feared missing some variables on the causal pathway.¹⁶² These observations are not specific to HCD+ASRH programs but to ASRH behavior change programs in general. With different behavior change models being employed within the same program, it often becomes difficult for various individuals who back each model to converse with one another. The partners in (re)solve spoke different scientific languages (public
health, behavioral economics, design for health/HCD), making it difficult for partners to understand one another's methodologies and find synergies.^{163, 164} The methods in (re)solve had some "crossover," as different methods informed the different approaches, yet operated in parallel or separately at times, rather than in an integrated manner as was originally intended.^{165, 166}

Obtaining accurate data on sensitive topics like sexual activity and contraceptive use is difficult and perhaps evaluation data underreport or over-report on some of these indicators.¹⁶⁷ Quantitative and qualitative data on sexual activity were mismatched, and as a result, the evaluation team spent more time building rapport, especially over the phone during endline interviews, to create a safe space and ensure privacy for participants.¹⁶⁸ Another major challenge for the study was around

the idea of the "intention to use" contraception. While intention could mean just a nascent idea to some, to others it could mean acting upon this. In the study, there was no way of knowing how participants interpreted this question.¹⁶⁹ Although the insights emerging from (re)solve were local and contextualized, they were not always as novel as the consortium had originally assumed (what the design team noted as insightful was not new information for FP implementers).^{170, 171}

Their CRT design and GEE analysis had several strengths: randomly assigning the intervention to schools from a sampling frame of schools with similar characteristics helped in the success of the randomization scheme, enabling the ease in comparing the intervention and control groups. They accounted for imbalances at the baseline by adjusting for baseline values. This was done to help 1) reduce between-cluster variation in their primary outcome at endline and increase the power and precision of the study; and 2) take into account what the regression would mean. The COVID-19 pandemic "offered an unplanned opportunity to estimate the resilience" of their intervention as a step to access SRH resources at clinics, and it allowed them to "test phone-based consent and interview processes with a vulnerable population."172



Jump to Endnotes

Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH

MLE approaches and learnings from select projects

Case 4: Beyond Bias

Project description

Beyond Bias is led by Pathfinder International in collaboration with Camber Collective, YLabs, RAND Corporation, and Behavioral Economics in Reproductive Health (BERI). The project is funded by Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation (BMGF) and is presently running across three geographies: Pakistan, Burkina Faso, and Tanzania. YLabs led qualitative design research in collaboration with Pathfinder International.

The project aimed to ensure that young people aged 15–25 receive access to empathetic, non-judgmental, and quality

counseling services along with the provision of a range of contraceptive methods¹⁷³ devoid of bias on the grounds of marital status and parity. The project is multidisciplinary, as it brings together experts from the field of AYSRH, social and behavior change communication, HCD, behavioral economics, and segmentation analysis. Such an approach supported an understanding of the various drivers, manifestations, and outcomes of provider bias in a nuanced manner to design well-tailored interventions¹⁷⁴ and scalable solutions. The premise of the project is that bias occurs in the "last meter" of care in the interaction between a provider and patient; multiple barriers prevent a young person from accessing safe contraception methods. The project generated insights with the support of HCD that provided perspective on users and their environment.

Background research

Beyond Bias was based on expert interviews and a literature review about the evidence on provider bias and past interventions that attempted to reduce bias. The foundational evidence¹⁷⁵ informed the creation of a quantitative segmentation survey. Also, qualitative design research interviews were conducted in each country. On the basis of this, key insights were distilled about provider and youth behavior and motivation. This was followed by facilitated structured ideation workshops to generate and prioritize ideas for interventions that could address provider bias in AYSRH services. Through a rigorous, multi-stage process, Beyond Bias partners, providers, and youth selected promising ideas for further development, prototyping, testing, and iteration. These findings informed the final intervention design and implementation.

Approach to intervention design

The process of developing an intervention and solution set to address provider bias using an HCD approach was captured through process documentation. The primary focus was to create a series of solutions to minimize provider bias. The participants were providers, young people, and other health system stakeholders. The design research methodologies included interviews, observations, role play, and participatory research activities to investigate provider biases and behavior toward young women. Each geography had a different set of interventions developed depending on the policy and legal context and the SRH needs.

Beyond Bias ensured feedback on the providers' progress each quarter, along with the opportunity for recognition for their achievements. It did this through a growth-oriented performance rewards system developed as part of the program, based on client feedback. This system had three key components: 1) a standardized rubric of excellence that enabled measurable progress and clear performance targets for the provider to work towards; 2) client feedback, which was captured directly after counselling, with objective questions about provider behavior; and 3) institutional recognition in front of their peers for improvement and maintenance of quality. A digital audio-visual client exit survey app was developed during the design process to collect client feedback after interacting with a provider.

An app was developed and tested with over 3,000 youth clients at 29

facilities across the three countries (Pakistan, Burkina Faso, and Tanzania) during the prototyping phase. As a result, facilities would receive report cards with performance data and recommendations for improvement, and the high-improvement facilities would get public recognition for their progress. This mechanism also enabled behavior change as it created accountability for service quality; offered visible performance-based rewards; and shifted professional norms.

Approach to measurement and evaluation

The Beyond Bias project used a mixedmethods randomized control trial to evaluate the effectiveness of the intervention by assessing changes in provider attitudes and behaviors, and measuring changes in clientlevel outcomes such as contraceptive use and quality of care.¹⁷⁶ The multicountry evaluation is in the process of completion with the analysis currently underway. Results and key findings from the Beyond Bias evaluation will be made publicly available in early 2022.

This data source and client exit interviews were useful not only in conducting the evaluation (to measure the effectiveness of the interventions between control and intervention groups), but also in monitoring provider performance, which was a key component of the Beyond Bias intervention in motivating and incentivizing providers to deliver unbiased care.

HCD and global health programs

Beyond Bias was built to integrate the HCD lens at every stage of the intervention and the program design. It consciously aimed to document its experience while using HCD as a part of its multidisciplinary approach to "develop effective and scalable AYSRH interventions."¹⁷⁷ Lessons learned from HCD implementation in Beyond

Bias have been seen to be useful to the quality of design outcomes and general project operations. The process documentation approaches helped describe their HCD methodology and how they arrived at the final solution set.

- Interventions need to be grounded in existing evidence and stresstesting HCD findings at every stage of solution development; testing and refinement are key.
- "Design with an ecosystem lens," in other words, design processes need to consider and involve various players from the start. Consequently, various indicators can be developed to guide how different partners can collaborate owing to differences in approach and methodologies.
- Built-in collaboration is needed among designers, technical experts,

and end users at key points to assert HCD findings against existing best practices and implementation knowledge.

 Sensitivity to participation and power imbalance between youth and providers is important to ensure that youth groups express themselves freely; participatory research and prototyping sessions were done separately with youth only and providers only with a few joint sessions. Youth-led workshops were convened where young people role-played their experiences while talking about contraception and sex with providers.



Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH





MLE approaches and learnings from select projects

Case 5: CyberRwanda

Project description

CyberRwanda is a six-year program (2016–2022) implemented in Rwanda by YLabs in close partnership with Society for Family Health-Rwanda, with guidance from the Ministry of Health, Rwanda Biomedical Center, and Rwanda Education Board.¹⁷⁸ The evaluation partners for this project are the School of Public Health at the University of California, Berkeley, and the University of Rwanda.¹⁷⁹ Other key partners include Rwandan adolescent health stakeholders who support the content development and help ensure that key messages are aligned with Rwanda's existing national health

priorities to decrease unplanned teen pregnancies and HIV infection.¹⁸⁰ Designed using an HCD methodology, CyberRwanda is a direct-to-consumer digital education program for urban and peri-urban youth aged 12–19. It uses storytelling to deliver age-appropriate FP/RH information and economic empowerment training to adolescents, with discreet, streamlined access to contraception and other essential products from trained pharmacists through a mobile ordering platform. It has been co-designed with 800 young people and 200 parents, teachers, health care providers, and

community leaders over a period from July 2016 to October 2018. The project enables youth to order products online for discreet in-person collection at participating pharmacies, after answering medically relevant questions and reading information about the products online. The program also includes gamified digital and in-person training for pharmacists at partnering health facilities that educate them on topics such as provider bias, youth access to health products, and voluntary FP/RH care. The objective of this intervention is to improve a spectrum of adolescent

health outcomes, with specific focus on increased uptake of modern contraception, delayed initiation of

childbearing, and increased rates of HIV testing.181

Approach to measurement and evaluation

The project is currently being implemented in two phases. The evaluation approach in Phase 1 is found below:

Phase 1: Randomized controlled trial impact study (2018–2021)

CyberRwanda^{182, 183} is being implemented and evaluated in schools using two different models: 1) selfservice and 2) facilitated. The aim of using two implementation models was to determine whether digital health education programs require face-toface peer or facilitator support to be effective, or whether knowledge and behavior change can be achieved through the self-service online components only. The 24-month evaluation aims to test the comparative effectiveness of online-only and onlineplus-face-to-face delivery models. In addition to rigorously measuring the impact of CyberRwanda, data will be collected on the feasibility, acceptability, and implementation successes and challenges of the program. This information will provide a good understanding not only of whether CyberRwanda achieved its desired outcomes but also of how and in what context. Finally, the study will measure the impact of the CyberRwanda

intervention on a set of outcomes related to FP/RH in the following areas: knowledge, behavioral intentions, selfefficacy, social norms, and engagement in employment, education, and training.

The evaluation is rooted in implementation science and uses a hybrid trial type 2 effectivenessimplementation study design to determine the overall effectiveness of CyberRwanda, along with the relative effectiveness of the two school-based

implementation models. The evaluation will be implemented using a three-arm cluster-randomized non-inferiority trial with a sample of 6,000 youth aged 12– 19, in 60 schools across eight districts of Rwanda. It consists of the following three arms:

- Cyber-Rwanda Self-Service, where schools receive guidance on how to set up tablets in school libraries for individual use
- 2. CyberRwanda Facilitated, where schools receive training on organizing a formal school club dedicated to exploring CyberRwanda in a group setting
- Control Schools, without CyberRwanda access but receiving standard services available in the community

Data will be collected through three surveys at three different time points during the study: 1) baseline, 2) midline (9–12 months after launch), and 3) endline (after 24 months). The survey will cover broad topic areas such as sociodemographic characteristics, knowledge about FP/ RH, social norms related to sexual health, gender roles, norms related to gender-based violence, intentions related to having a family, use of contraceptives, communication with partners, sexual behavior, childbearing, future aspirations and goal-setting, and attitudes and intentions toward school and employment.¹⁸⁴ Also, collection of continuous, real-time data is planned using Google Analytics to understand user engagement patterns (e.g., dropoff points in character storylines, online ordering behaviors) in all three arms. An eight-week pilot study was also conducted September–October 2019

in four schools and two youth centers in Nyagatare and Kigali (Nyarugenge and Gasabo Districts) to refine the implementation model and data collection instruments.¹⁸⁵

Due to the long duration of data collection (24 months), the impact evaluation carries a high risk of attrition as a result of school dropout, which is higher in girls than boys from age 15 (closely related to our primary outcomes, i.e., childbearing).¹⁸⁶ Therefore, the team plans to collect multiple modes of contact for each enrolled student and parents at baseline, as well as provide participants small communication payments (<\$1 USD) for regularly updating contact information every school term, so that the team can retain updated contact information. Along with these efforts, the team has also thought of accounting in its power calculations for

an expected ten percent attrition rate over the course of the study.¹⁸⁷

The effectiveness of the intervention will be assessed by using a generalized linear mixed model (GLMM) with uptake of a modern contraceptive method (binary outcome) and initiation of childbearing (binary outcome) as the outcome variables. The model will include a binary explanatory variable for the intervention group (control versus CyberRwanda in either the self-service or facilitated arm) with control group as the reference, and model terms for the stratification factor (district) as well as other relevant variables measured at baseline (e.g., age, sex). Relative risks and 95 percent confidence intervals will be presented using robust standard errors to account for clustering at the

school and district levels.¹⁸⁸

The study also intends to draw upon Proctor's Implementation Science framework to understand why, and in what context, CyberRwanda is or is not effective. This framework consists of eight components: 1) acceptability, 2) adoption, 3) appropriateness, 4) cost, 5) feasibility, 6) fidelity, 7) penetration, and 8) sustainability. This framework was employed as the team aims to build a deep understanding of why the different programmatic versions were or were not effective and to understand various barriers and facilitators in using the CyberRwanda platform. All the eight constructs of the framework will be explored in the three study arms through semi-structured interviews conducted during the impact evaluation, and through short surveys embedded into the CyberRwanda platform. If the digital intervention is found to be effective, this framework will allow the team to determine potential barriers and facilitators to scale-up and sustainability through input from stakeholders at multiple levels: the individual level (students, peer facilitators, parents, and teachers), the organizational level (schools), and the policy level (community leaders, government officials).¹⁸⁹

Apart from evaluating comparative effectiveness of different implementation models, preparations for a cost-effectiveness evaluation to measure the relative cost-effectiveness of the two different implementation models is also underway.

Phase 2: National Scale (2021–2022)

Results of the evaluation will determine how CyberRwanda will be expanded nationwide, especially to more rural

areas. The second phase of the project will be national-scale implementation, using community events and mass

media marketing to promote product launch.¹⁹⁰



(

The review of recent experience integrating measurement and evaluation into HCD+ASRH programs revealed several common challenges. These challenges relate specifically to 1) how MLE works in practice in the context of HCD+ASRH programs and 2) the importance of understanding if and how to measure design and its influence on ASRH program processes and outcomes. As described above, this analysis found very few examples of HCD+ASRH projects that documented their approach to and results from MLE (including publicly available endline analyses). Thus, we synthesized the common challenges and lessons reported based on the experience of three well-documented

programs^{191, 192, 193, 194} and augmented the analysis through interviews with program, design, and measurement experts who represent a range of experience related to measurement and HCD+ASRH.



Challenge #1: Lack of frameworks to define the influence of design in ASRH programming

Practitioners frequently reported that the absence of an agreed ToC that illustrates the role of HCD in ASRH programming and its influence on program outcomes remains a challenge for practitioners and funders working to integrate HCD and ASRH. None of the projects reviewed in this landscape analysis explicitly defined a pathway of change from the application of HCD to the generation of ASRH program outcomes, nor focused measurement on delineating or exploring this pathway. One project evaluation asked whether

an HCD process could deliver a larger program impact than "standard normal" youth programming.¹⁹⁵ A second project focused evaluation and learning on two linked questions: 1) Does HCD work and why? and 2) What external and internal factors affect HCD's uptake and success?¹⁹⁶ While these evaluations shed light on the value and effect of HCD, the body of evidence on the link between HCD and ASRH outcomes remains limited. Many of the challenges related to integrating measurement and evaluation in HCD+ASRH programming

discussed below emerge from this fundamental lack of clarity about the influence of HCD.

For example, respondents noted that stakeholders often expect that HCD will provide completely new and different insights related to adolescent needs, desires, and SRH service experience, and produce novel ASRH interventions.¹⁹⁷ However, the Itad evaluation of Divine Divas and Future Fab found that HCD processes inspired innovation and improved program

effectiveness because they introduced highly user-centered program implementation strategies rather than generating novel ASRH insights or solutions.

"The HCD solutions (Divine Divas and Future Fab) in both Kenya and Zambia employ[ed] a similar structure for mobilizing, engaging and service provision. The process of developing solutions [was] innovative, as [was] the brand coherence achieved across the different solution components. However, none of the solutions [were] seen as particularly innovative by a range of key stakeholders, largely because the [intervention] components themselves [were] not novel (e.g., peer counselling, youthfriendly spaces in clinics)." ¹⁹⁸

Respondents reported that Divine Divas and Future Fab produced a "coherent ecosystem of solutions that [gave] primacy to adolescent girls and their desire,"¹⁹⁹ which made the solutions stand out as innovative.

Mapping the pathway from HCD to ASRH outcomes is also difficult because of the way in which designers approach program development, with few preconceived ideas about what solutions will be built, and iterative testing of different possible solutions. Itad's evaluation report notes that investment in HCD and related approaches should come with cautionary warnings "to not expect results immediately and be prepared to be flexible to welcome success."200 The essence of the HCD process is the use of a "how might we" question-not knowing how a certain process would play out²⁰¹ rather than promising that novel solutions would emerge. Several

respondents confirmed that the link between HCD and health outcomes is not direct, noting that HCD values the small wins that can be tracked in an individual's journey as he or she navigates within the influence of peers, the family unit, and the wider community—over the "big wins" that get counted as normative behavior change within the context of an ASRH program.

In the absence of a clear impact pathway from integrating HCD to health program performance, there is also limited use of metrics that reflect the learning that emerges from HCD (e.g., desirability of SRH services and the user experience) to track changes in user perceptions, experiences, and desires and their influence on outcomes, such as service uptake.^{202, 203}

Challenge #2: Lack of standard metrics to track HCD

In addition to helping develop usercentered health program interventions, HCD also enhances program design and implementation strategies. Yet, among the programs reviewed, few systematically tracked the influence of HCD processes (e.g., empathy building and user-centered solution development) on program implementation or performance. Respondents noted that HCD increases understanding of the drivers of human behavior, and applies this learning to

developing intervention prototypes and project interventions. These design processes add value to ASRH programming because they help program implementers gain empathy for user needs and context, understand elements of user experience and health service desirability, and undertake ideation and iterative solution prototyping. The evaluation of Future Fab and Divine Divas²⁰⁴ found that all components of an HCD process are needed for getting a solution "out there

in the world," including making youth voices heard and generating empathy for youth among program managers. As noted by a program manager, "Design can create a more motivated, engaged and empathetic programmatic team, but there isn't a clear way to 'measure' that."205 These features of HCD are rarely captured through program M&E.^{206, 207, 208}

The absence of standard ways to define HCD processes, outputs, and

outcomes also contributes to poor understanding of HCD's role in ASRH programming. Although designers and design agencies follow a similar design process, one respondent noted that each has its own way of applying design to health programming based on its experience. While this diversity is inherent in the practice of HCD, the lack of standard benchmarks related to HCD process and outcomes makes it challenging to determine the effectiveness and the quality of design. Two interview respondents reported that lack of benchmarks for what "good" means in terms of HCD's role in health programming puts designers at a disadvantage, without clear ways in which to document and explain the work. Designers might also perceive evaluators' attempts to pin down design with measurement

as program supervision for the purpose of accountability rather than an opportunity for collective learning about how to integrate measurement more systematically into HCD+ASRH processes.²⁰⁹



Challenge #3: Limited documentation of HCD processes and decision-making in the program cycle

Respondents noted a general lack of documentation of design methods, which contributes to poor understanding of HCD's role in health programming and limits the potential to track HCD processes through measurement. In A360, the team that conducted the PE found it difficult to document HCD activities and its roles in developing program interventions due to HCD's fast-paced and highly iterative nature.^{210, 211} The team mitigated this challenge by conducting participant observation to capture the HCD process in depth rather than relying on

interviews and documentation following implementation.²¹² The evaluation of Diva Program and Future Fab also found insufficient documentation of HCD in the two program sites (Zambia and Kenya), making it difficult to construct a detailed map of HCD processes.²¹³ They employed stakeholder and participant interviews and conducted journey-mapping workshops in each country to fill these data gaps. The in-country workshops with key stakeholders from MSK and MSZ, termed "force field workshops," used interactive and visual techniques to

work through participant experience of the HCD process and reach consensus on the insights that emerged. The visuals and the data generated through the workshops were then discussed and refined through three virtual visits and an in-country visit to document and understand the application of HCD in developing the Diva Centres as well as Future Fab activities.

Challenge #4: Lack of standard measurement to inform the early phases of design decision-making

Among the projects reviewed, we found no instances of the use of monitoring or measurement in the design phase to inform the evolution of prototypes and related decisions about which interventions were selected for widespread implementation. Designers use different techniques to determine the value of prototypes at different stages of their evolution and refinement (e.g., low fidelity to high fidelity), reflecting the ideas of desirability (from the user perspective), feasibility, and viability, before the intervention might go to scale.^{214, 215} The criteria used to refine or abandon prototypes may reflect standard public health metrics, such as service acceptability and perceived quality of care, but they are not explicitly expressed as metrics. One evaluator interviewed noted the difficulty of applying standard public health M&E approaches in the early design phases because design uses small samples and rapid learning cycles.²¹⁶ Others considered blending public health metrics and design metrics at this stage to align learning from design techniques with standard metrics on user perceptions and expressed needs.²¹⁷ User-centered understanding about human behavior and behavioral drivers that emerge from design techniques could be integrated into public health M&E, or used in earlystage program monitoring as well as outcome measurement.^{218, 219}

Challenge #5: Methodological challenges

Respondents noted the following challenges related to designing and implementing MLE for HCD+ASRH:

 Integrating traditional impact evaluation into HCD-led programs.

In A360, the outcome evaluation was designed before the interventions were fully defined. Additional time was needed to coordinate across the different evaluation approaches (e.g., process, impact) and implementation teams to build appropriate evaluation tools.^{220, 221, 222}

- Cost-effectiveness analysis. The evaluation team conducting the cost-effectiveness analysis of A360 faced challenges in isolating the cost of HCD and mapping the variation in expenditure related to implementation across geographies.^{223, 224, 225} The use of a multidisciplinary approach to ASRH programming that included HCD, public health, adolescent development, social marketing, and cultural anthropology activities intensified this challenge.²²⁶
- **Repeated engagement with** respondents. In HCD+ASRH interventions, program participants participate in HCD research and program evaluation activities. The frequency of data collection from the same groups of respondents can lead to research fatigue. In A360, the process evaluation team noted the need to streamline the number of contacts with participants.²²⁷ One respondent advised that it is preferable to be "in the room during the design process so that points

that are related to evaluation can be integrated into that process rather than having a separate stream of going back to people again."²²⁸

 Limited time. Respondents from all programs reviewed reported lack of time to reflect on and integrate evaluation findings to inform implementation. For example, the A360 team expected to feed process evaluation findings into the intervention design. However, they found that program implementers had little time to pause and reflect on the findings because of the fast pace of implementation.²²⁹ The country implementing teams engaged differently with external recommendations: while some were receptive to feedback, showing the willingness to listen and adjust, others were more protective of their "solutions."²³⁰ When evaluators employed PAR activities, including "Sounding Workshops" focused on operational questions that were important to the country teams (e.g., health care provider attitudes), they provided a safe space for evaluators and implementers to integrate evaluation results and optimize solutions.²³¹



Challenge #6: Integration of design and measurement

Respondents reported two approaches to program funding that introduced challenges for effective use of MLE in HCD+ASRH programming. The first challenge is resource availability to take a comprehensive approach to MLE in HCD+ASRH projects. Integrating HCD techniques into ASRH programming requires flexible and adaptive measurement and learning approaches and funding for MLE at each step of the process. For example, support is needed for developing ways to monitor early-stage iteration of potential interventions (e.g., prototype testing) and to allow time to implement baseline surveys once interventions are designed.²³² The second challenge is finding ways for different disciplines to work collaboratively and avoid professional silos. HCD+ASRH project teams often include professionals and approaches from a range of disciplines. When contracted as independent contributors to the project, partners tends to work within their own professional boundaries and apply measurement frameworks that reflect their own discipline. Few processes are in place for building a common language, sharing decisionmaking, and developing a shared road map that integrates all partners, including measurement professionals. The evaluation of the Diva Program and Future Fab noted a lack of clarity related to roles, responsibilities, and accountability across different program partners.^{233, 234} "[Each] had different expectations of what the partnership would deliver to achieve the goal, the timeframe for achieving it, their specific roles and responsibilities, and levels of effort needed."²³⁵



Discussion and Lessons Learned to Date

Applying HCD to public health programming is in an early stage of development. Stakeholders have an increased understanding of the importance of the role of HCD, particularly in relation to its value in building empathy (e.g., by bringing patient voice, user perspective, and innovation) and in aligning health interventions and health systems with people's needs.²³⁶ Research and programmatic evidence on HCD and global health programming are helping in documenting and assessing programs that integrate HCD, as well as exploring the influence of HCD on program processes and outcomes. However, additional investment is needed to guide the integration of measurement in design-led programming and to help adapt traditional MLE processes in this context.

Heller, LaFond, and Murthy (2021)²³⁷ note that integrating HCD and global health "requires new approaches to managing measurement across multidisciplinary project teams that optimize the rigor of

public health monitoring and evaluation" and the learnings that HCD can uniquely provide. Lessons learned emerging from this landscape review also suggest the need for integrated approaches to M&E of programs that apply design. With a few exceptions (e.g., Adam et al. 2020), the focus is currently limited to using measurement in design to ground HCD in empirical evidence or to address the theoretical question of how and why HCD works.²³⁸ As an extension of that, practitioners and expert groups are found to embody emerging knowledge into how HCD and HCD programs get measured that may not always be reflected in the literature. Improved understanding of HCD's influence on program impact through thoughtful framing and measurement will help inform future investments in global health.²³⁹ The value of integrating measurement into design comes from its role in making the overall program outcomes explicit, and in defining the hypothetical pathways and drivers that lead to these outcomes (e.g., through a

ToC). Introducing subjective and objective metrics to test the pathways over time helps determine whether the intervention is developing relevant conditions critical to its overall success.²⁴⁰



Planning for integration of design and MLE across all programmatic stages

Program and partnership structures have a direct impact on how HCD is integrated into health programming. They also influence the extent to which measurement can be integrated effectively into design processes or across the program cycle. A review of the program documentation and consultations in this landscape analysis advocated for building in processes that continuously integrate design and measurement teams to improve cross-disciplinary programming. Grant structures and resources are needed to enable designers to work with program

teams in shaping M&E strategies as well as support the use of systematic measurement approaches during the design phase.

One evaluation respondent shared the value of "being in the room from the very beginning" of MLE planning to ensure that evaluators understand the intent of design and designers and can define ways to work with the M&E team across the program cycle. Evaluators reported that direct observation of design processes was instrumental in capturing the fast-paced, highly iterative HCD process and in learning how decisions were made at key points.²⁴¹ They found that PAR in early phases of a program was helpful for documenting the process of design and informing the program about the key questions that were raised and addressed through HCD. As noted by an evaluator:

"The process has a lot of innovation and adaptation and can be hard to reconstruct a journey through that from post-it notes."242

From the designers' perspective, what emerged as a learning was the importance of creating opportunities for the design team to gain understanding from program partners around MLE strategies and key indicators of program success, by working alongside the implementation and measurement teams. Designers noted that early engagement on MLE enabled them to integrate program output and outcome indicators in the design process and to develop well-rounded and systemic solutions. One designer respondent emphasized the importance of implementers, evaluators, and designers co-designing measurement strategies; this ensured responsiveness between design and measurement processes. For instance, A360 paused the PE after the pilot phase and the design team worked with implementers and donors to develop evaluation questions that reflected the solutions under development, working within A360's ToC.²⁴³ As noted by a designer:

"We are experimenting with a problem tree approach; we work with measurement teams to get clear on the outcomes and impacts expected and return to the design process to make decisions on prototypes and build them out, in essence integrating theory of change in design practice."

Considering intermediate outcomes indicators that emerge from HCD processes

Programs employing HCD delve deeply into drivers of human behavior to identify how they can be addressed in program interventions to improve the uptake of health services or introduce new practices that improve health outcomes. Respondents recommended greater investment in defining and measuring indicators that reflect these intermediate outcomes along the pathway to overall program success as a way to assess the role of design and guide the design process. Various

studies reviewed in this landscape, as well as expert consultations, suggest that a user-centered understanding about human behavior and behavioral drivers that emerge from design techniques could be integrated into public health M&E, or used in earlystage program monitoring as well as outcome measurement.



Managing cross-disciplinary approaches, methodologies, and indicators

All programs reviewed emphasized the importance of increased understanding around key concepts, vocabulary, and approaches among partners across disciplines (design, program implementation, and measurement). Doyle et al. (2019) recommend that evaluators, implementers, and designers take time to familiarize themselves with the methodologies used by other disciplines and have open discussions about the potential challenges and ways of addressing the same during interdisciplinary research.²⁴⁴ Others note that activities and concepts applied in the course of the ideation process are key to building a shared understanding of program intent and metrics of success in early program design phases.²⁴⁵ It has been proposed that the ideation process is where HCD adds value to traditional program design processes. Yet, the importance of this phase is least understood by stakeholders, which introduces challenges in program partnerships.²⁴⁶ For example, when designers use the term 'implementation' it typically refers to the piloting rather than the scaling of solutions. The use of this term can create expectations among program implementers about "solutions readiness" that are often seen to be unrealistic. In the progressive handover of design solutions to the program managers at this phase, lack of shared understanding of concepts like "implementation'" can create tensions.²⁴⁷ A few examples are found

of tools that mediate or provide a bridge between design and implementation concepts in the form of "report cards" for prototypes and "implementer observation tools." Also, designers need a better understanding of concepts, terms, and practices used in program M&E. The MeasuredD website notes:

"Despite the important role that communication plays in the practice of social design, we do not yet have a shared language to facilitate the requisite collaboration."²⁴⁸



Using adaptive M&E approaches

Iterative learning processes in HCD are increasingly integrated into program implementation in the form of adaptive management. Some programs that integrated HCD adopted additional adaptive approaches to continue to modify program interventions throughout the program cycle. Inspired by HCD, A360 adopted a user journey approach to structure the evaluation process, which enabled them to compare how girls were navigating, experiencing, and benefiting from a health intervention with behavioral pathways discovered during the design process. This tool was found to be useful for monitoring the program ToC because it was specific to the

learning uncovered during design. One evaluator respondent suggested that when measurement is integrated into design, it is important to focus on "how you do it" as opposed to "what you do," indicating how measurement teams need to be comfortable in being utilization-focused. This may involve using deep-listening techniques with designers and implementers to understand decisions about the evolution of solutions and to adapt questions and timelines to align with the need for program learning. Methodologies to support adaptive approaches include PAR, sounding workshops, and pause-and-reflect sessions. These approaches allow for

collective reflection, where design and implementation teams work with evaluators to review evaluation findings together and interpret and co-create modifications in program solutions or implementation strategies. Respondents noted that adaptive approaches to measurement and programming require adequate and continuous resources to implement them effectively. As noted by an evaluator:

"As the design process is fast moving and adaptable and evaluation needs to mirror it to undertake evaluation well."²⁴⁹

Framing the value of design before undertaking assessments

To advance the integration of measurement in the context of HCD+ASRH, designers need to frame the intended role of HCD and the value of design for stakeholders at different phases of the program cycle. It is challenging to link HCD directly to achieving program outcomes. Thus, theoretical framing and exploration of the role of HCD should focus on HCD's contribution to program solutions and processes. Stakeholders cite a range of ways in which they feel design adds value, but note that the value of design is not well documented with observations or metrics, and that we lack a framework to define "what good looks like" in HCD+ASRH.²⁵⁰ Research and program documents, along with respondent comments, indicate that the elements of the HCD process that add value relate to surfacing and designing interventions in response to user needs and desires, building openness to innovation, building empathy for users and the contexts in which they live, and having an iterative problem-solving and prototyping mindset. These processes contribute to solutions that are desirable and acceptable to users, are aligned with user context, and enhance the likelihood of solution adoption and satisfaction. A design organization, IDEO.org, has begun creating a framework of the value of design based on its stakeholders' experience with design-influenced programming. Such a framework will help donors and practitioners to explain the role of HCD to public health implementers and provide structure for defining ways to monitor and evaluate HCD.

Integrating practices

Opportunities for improving the integration of measurement into HCD+ASRH programming lie at the nexus of evaluation, programming, and HCD practices. We require deliberate efforts to find synergies among these disciplines. One design expert reported that her team is increasingly focused on empathizing with and designing for implementers as users (of HCD), and facilitating processes for deploying solutions together with implementers. They have also adopted "implementor feedback moments" and live prototype

tracking, applying rapid learnings to optimize solutions.

In the future, developing a symbiotic relationship between design and measurement can help improve design practices as well as the understanding of HCD's role in defining program solutions and processes. In practical terms, HCD, ASRH, and measurement practitioners should consider the following:

1. Using a cross-disciplinary process to co-create and evolve ToCs

- that clearly define programmatic outcomes and theoretical pathways of change as well as reflect learning from design research and solutiondevelopment processes.
- 2. Involving design teams in programshaping discussions that are grounded in the ToC and exposing them to the articulation of a ToC and the definition of program intermediate outcomes, milestones, and metrics.

- 3. Involving implementer and measurement teams in the design phases to gain a shared understanding of program and design processes and parameters, linking design, implementation, and MLE.
- 4. Building a common set of metrics that include designfocused indicators such as user experience, desirability, usability, and user fit, as well as public health indicators, such as acceptance, adoption, and affordability.
- 5. Extending the rapid cycles of learning of design phases to implementation and program MLE.



Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH



- A360. (2020). A360's Learning and Growth Since the 2018 Mid-Term Evaluation. A360. 1. https://a360learninghub.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/A360-MTE-_-V3.pdf
- 2. AdmelLab. (n.d.). Aligning Inclusive Accountability with Monitoring & Evaluation to Create a Positive Social Impact. AdmelLab. https://www.admellab.org/
- 3. Adam M. B. et al. (2020). Implementation research and human-centred design: how theory driven human-centred design can sustain trust in complex health systems, support measurement and drive sustained community health volunteer engagement. Health Policy Plan. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33156944/
- 4. Appleford, G. et al. (2019). Get Smart: Learning and Partnership with Ethiopia's Health Extension Programme to Re-envision Contraceptive Service Delivery to Young Couples. Gates Open Research. https://gatesopenresearch.org/articles/3-1570
- 5. Atchison, C. J. (2018). Evaluating the impact of an intervention to increase uptake of modern contraceptives among adolescent girls (15–19 years) in Nigeria, Ethiopia and Tanzania: the Adolescents 360 quasi experimental study protocol. BMJ Open. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29858422/
- 6. Ayenekulu, M. (2018). Adaptive Implementation, From the Desk of an A360'er. PSI. https://www.psi.org/2018/06/adaptive-implementation-adolescents-360/
- 7. Beck, E. (2020). To measure innovation, we should have suited up differently. Population Services International. https:// a360learninghub.org/measuringinnovation/#1573237459945-9db4ebad-8fdf
- 8. Calder, R. et al. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. https://www.itad.com/knowledge-product/evaluation-of-the-hewlett-foundations-strategy-to-apply-human-centred-design-to-improve-family-planning-andreproductive-health-in-sub-saharan-africa/
- 9. Camber Collective. (2018). Beyond Bias: Provider Survey and Segmentation Findings. Camber Collective. https://www.thecompassforsbc.org/sites/default/files/project_examples/BB%20Report%20Draft_041118_vf%20with%20appendix.pdf

- 10. Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. Types of Evaluation. https://www.cdc.gov/std/program/pupestd/types%20of%20evaluation.pdf
- 11. Core. (2018). Clearing the Pathway to Change: Core's First Evaluation Workshop. Core Nigeria. https://thisiscore.org/charting-atheory-of-change-cores-first-evaluation-workshop
- 12. Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/
- 13. Fricker, T. & Zahir, H.. (2018). Youth Spark Innovation in Sudan: 'UPSHIFT' Programme Helps Some of the Most Disadvantaged Young People Solve Problems in their Communities. UNICEF. https://www.google.com/url?q=https://www.unicef.org/ stories/youth-spark-innovation-sudan&sa=D&source=editors&ust=1629282826132000&usg=AOvVaw1K3ue2Lac05GQ-eHXTGE07
- 14. Hasselknippe, K. S. et al (2017). Empowering Refugee and Host-Community Youth with Design Thinking Skills for Community Development. The Design Society. https://www.designsociety.org/publication/40295/EMPOWERING+REFUGEE+AND+HOST-COMMU NITY+YOUTH+WITH+DESIGN+THINKING+SKILLS+FOR+COMMUNITY+DEVELOPMENT
- 15. HCDExchange. (2021). Community Call: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD+ASRH. https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xRjU8yv6Mjc
- 16. HCD Uncut. (2017). Behind the Scenes of Human Centred Design. HCD Uncut. https://s3.amazonaws.com/files.designforhealth.org/HCDUncut Documentation.pdf
- 17. Heller C., LaFond A. et al. (2021). Methods and Benefits of Measuring Human-Centered Design in Global Health. Global Health: Science and Practice November 2021. https://www.ghspjournal.org/content/9/Supplement_2/S274
- 18. Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

- 19. IDEO. (2018). Diva Centres and Divine Divas. https://www.comminit.com/srhrafrica/content/diva-centres-and-divine-divas
- 20. Mann Global Health. (n.d.). Future Fab Case Study. https://mannglobalhealth.com/microsite/downloads/MGH-case-study-future-fab.pdf
- 21. Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-HCD-Evaluation Final-Report Nov-10-2017.pdf
- 22. Itad. (2018). Evaluation: Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-centred Design to Family Planning and Reproductive Health. https://hewlett.org/library/evaluation-of-the-hewlett-foundations-strategy-to-apply-human-centered-design-to-improve-familyplanning-and-reproductive-health-services-in-sub-saharan-africa/
- 23. Itad. (n.d.) Adolescents 360 Evaluation, What do service providers think about contraceptive service provision to 15–19 year old girls in Nigeria?. Itad. https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/A360_PAR-case-study_Nigeria_Dec-18.pdf
- 24. Kallos, A. (2020). How We Used an Outcome Harvest. Eval Academy. https://www.evalacademy.com/articles/how-we-used-an-outcomeharvest
- 25. LaFond, A., & Davis N.. (2017) Evaluating the Influence of Human-Centered Design on Health Programs. JSI. https://www.jsi.com/evaluating-the-influence-of-human-centered-design-on-health-programs/
- 26. LaFond, A. & Mullei, K. (2020). Framing of the Learning Agenda in HCD+ASRH
- 27. MeasureD. (n.d.). Adolescents 360. MeasureD. https://measured.design/adolescents-360/
- 28. MeasureD. (n.d.). Methodology. MeasureD. https://measured.design/observations-and-learnings/
- 29. MINEDUC Rwanda, UNICEF. (2017). Understanding dropout and repetition in Rwanda. <u>http://www.rencp.org/wp-content/</u> uploads/2018/09/DROPOUT-STUDY-FULL-REPORT.pdf. Accessed 1 Apr 2020.

- 30. Mullei, K. et al. (2021). Landscape Analysis: Youth Integration in HCD+ASRH
- 31. Murithi, L. et al.. (2020). Tackling Provider Bias in Contraceptive Service Delivery: lessons from the Beyond Bias Project. Camber Collective. https://www.prb.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/beyond-bias-service-delivery-11.pdf
- 32. Newport, S. et al. (2019). Midterm Review of the Adolescents 360 Program. Itad. https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/A360-MTR-Report FINAL 27th-June-2019.pdf
- 33. Nolan, C. et al. (2020). Design and Impact Evaluation of a Digital Reproductive Health Program in Rwanda Using a Cluster Randomized Design: Study Protocol. BMC Public Health. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09746-7
- 34. Oxfam Youth as Active Citizens Community of Practice. (2019). Co-creation in Young@Heart: Putting Young People at the Heart of Project Design, Implementation and Evaluation. Oxfam. https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/co-creation-in-youngheart-putting-young-people-at-the-heart-of-project-design-i-620701/
- 35. Pathfinder. (n.d.). (re)solve). Website: https://www.pathfinder.org/projects/resolve/
- 36. Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-CLEAN-191028-1.pdf
- 37. Punton M. et al.. (2020). The A360 Journey: How are Girls in Nigeria and Ethiopia Experiencing A360, and What Factors Affect Whether They Continue or discontinue Contraception? Itad. https://www.itad.com/knowledge-product/the-a360-journey/
- 38. Rosen, J. and Weinberger, M. (2018) Cost-effectiveness analysis evaluation plan. Itad in association with Avenir Health. http://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/12/CEA-Evaluation-Plan-A360-June-19-2018-003.pdf
- 39. Staats, S. J. (2018). Q&A with Margot Fahnestock: A Teen-centred Approach to Contraception in Zambia and Kenya. https://hewlett.org/qa-with-margot-fahnestock-a-teen-centered-approach-to-contraception-in-zambia-and-kenya/
- 40. UNICEF. (2020) The UNICEF Europe and Central Asia Regional Office. Evaluation of UNICEF Kosovo Programme (2016-2020). UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/kosovoprogramme/media/1641/file/Evaluation%20of%20UNICEF%20Kosovo%20Programme.pdf
- 41. UNICEF. (n.d.) UPSHIFT: Empowering a Generation of Changemakers. UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/innovation/upshift
- 42. UN Development Programme. (2017). Innovation for Development in Uganda. Medium. https://undp.medium.com/innovation-for-development-in-uganda-413f88548a3b
- 43. Villa-Torres, L., & Svanemyr, J. (2015). Ensuring youth's right to participation and promotion of youth leadership in the development of sexual and reproductive health policies and programs. The Journal of adolescent health: Official publication of the Society for Adolescent Medicine, 56 (1 Suppl), S51–S57. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jadohealth.2014.07.022
- 44. Wagner, Z. (2021). Beyond Bias Reducing Provider Bias Towards Adolescents to Increase Contraception Take-Up in Tanzania, Burkina Faso. RAND. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04802304
- 45. Wisdom J and Creswell JW. Mixed Methods: Integrating Quantitative and Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis While Studying Patient-Centered Medical Home Models. Rockville, MD: Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality. February 2013. AHRQ Publication No. 13-0028-EF. https://pcmh.ahrq.gov/page/mixed-methods-integrating-quantitative-and-qualitative-data-collection-andanalysis-while
- 46. World Health Organisation, D. of C. and A. H. and D. (CAH). (n.d.). Orientation Programme on Adolescent Health for Healthcare Providers.
- 47. YLabs. (2020). Reducing healthcare provider bias that hinders the provision of contraceptive information and services to adolescents. Ylabs. https://www.ylabsglobal.org/work/all/beyond-bias



Annex 1. Learning questions and sub-questions

The landscape review sought to answer the following learning questions and sub-questions:

1. How has measurement and evaluation been integrated into HCD in the context of ASRH programming? a. What key elements/ components/ principles of traditional MLE methods have been used in HCD+ASRH evaluations?

b. What evaluation strategies have been experimented with for evaluating HCD+ASRH programs and processes? (Probe: What kind of evaluation frameworks i.e. process evaluations have been used to inform design led program adaptations?)

c. What kind of HCD driven and inspired evaluation strategies have been effective and could be conducive to HCD+ASRH programs? What have been their benefits?

2. How has design and its value been measured and assessed in HCD+ASRH programming? a. Does the evaluation tool/approach/strategy evaluate the impact of HCD as a method in ASRH programming or the intervention itself?

b. What new insights around measuring the impact of HCD in ASRH programming did these tools/strategies/approaches generate?



Annex 2. Inclusion criteria

Inclusion criteria for HCD+ASRH+MEL resources (inclusive of grey literature, program documents)

| Population, or participants and conditions of interest | This includes academic institutions, youth organizations, designers, evaluators, ASRH/ HCD+ASRH practitioners/ projects, government agencies (institutions). |
|--|--|
| Interventions | ASRH projects and solutions implemented or developed through HCD or related approaches such as design thinking and behavioural economics; includes prototype development (all stages), evaluation, monitoring, measuring of any kind |
| Outcomes of Interest | Measurement, monitoring, evaluation or assessment of the intervention or solution in ASRH programs with elements of ; adoption of HCD in practice; robust Monitoring Evaluation and Learning system |
| Geographic setting (context) | This includes geographic regions of the Global South (SSA and Asia); include Global North resources that can be adapted for use in LMICs |



Annex 3. Interview guide

- 1. What innovative evaluation practices for HCD+ASRH programs have shown promise in the longer term, that we should build upon?
- 2. What should you not change from traditional MLE even when you're building evaluation strategies/approaches for HCD-led programs? (Any particular approaches we shouldn't move away from?)
- 3. Have you seen a clash between measurement indicators from users' side and implementation-donors' side?
- 4. What examples have addressed the desire for quantification of HCD processes to a certain extent? Is it useful/possible?
- 5. While creating evaluations for the HCD-led processes during a project, what are the various contingencies that you have encountered as an evaluator?
- 6. How can we measure early stage innovations for their potential for implementability and scalability in HCD+ASRH programs?
- 7. Are there examples of common language / vocabulary on indicators and results that can be understood across design, implementation, evaluation and donor disciplines?
- 8. If you were to pick one theme / challenge in MLE+HCD+ASRH that you feel we should explore deeply and build solution sets for, what would that be?

Annex 4. Tools and techniques

Participatory Action Research

Participatory Action Research (PAR) was utilized only by one project i.e. A360⁻ which introduced this component in its process evaluation in 2018 in Ethiopia and Nigeria, to provide a mechanism to answer implementers' 'burning questions' in a rapid way. It was used to understand beneficiaries' "actual experience" by comparing their actual experience against the intended user journey.

PAR allowed the A360 country teams to identify specific areas for in-depth review, also allowing a faster turnaround of findings. These included areas of challenge or areas of success where a deeper understanding was beneficial to the program, with evaluation questions and implications from the research co-developed with A360 implementers and the evaluation team. PAR exercises were conducted on an ad-hoc basis, in line with the needs of the implementing teams, which included rapid, light touch data collection and analysis conducted independently by the evaluation team, and sounding workshops (explained below).

Participatory Youth Research

This analysis indicates utilization of Participatory Youth Research only in A360⁻, where its approach was drawn from the principles of Participatory Ethnographic Evaluation and Research (PEER). PEER 'is based upon training members of the target group...to become peer researchers to carry out in-depth conversations and interviews among their own peer group.'

It was reportedly trialled in Ethiopia and Tanzania during Pilot and Optimization phases where girls were trained as peer researchers and engaged in co-creating interview questions, who then interviewed their peers about the A360 intervention (such as their interaction with service providers). All data collection activities, research questions, etc were conducted in the

Jump to Endnotes

local language by researchers fluent in the same. Other participatory techniques were also utilized during this process, such as:

- Critical group reflection methodologies, to promote dialogue over the findings between the peer researchers.
- Role plays, to enhance understanding of the interview questions and consent process, as well as unpacking some of the issues raised through data collection.
- Visual storytelling through the form of drawings, to explore and validate the findings from the peer research.

This approach was reported to have generated rich insights into girls' perspectives and experiences. However, some challenges in applying these methods were reported, as the nature of girls' interactions with A360 in both Ethiopia and Tanzania (through potentially one-off outreach events or counselling sessions) was dependent on extensive exposure and saturation in target communities. Therefore, new and revised methods were suggested to ensure maximally rich and insightful data is collected. At the Scale phase, the team proposes to consider whether a participatory ethnographic approach is suitable in each context. In cases where it isn't, lighter-touch participatory sense making workshops with girls who have taken part in IDIs and FGDs will be trialled instead. These half-day workshops will utilize above-mentioned participatory techniques, and involve sharing and discussing insights from interviews as well as focus groups with a subset of girls who participated in data collection. The participants will be encouraged to reflect on the emerging findings, which would help build a deep understanding of the issues being raised.

Tracer Study

Tracer Study is another evaluation technique reported in this analysis, which was utilized only in Kosovo Programme's evaluation, where a Youth Tracer Study was conducted as part of the evaluation. This study provided additional insights into the Adolescent Development and Participation (ADAP) component, since it had had no thematic evaluation done to date, and specifically focused on the three project models employed with youth: UPSHIFT, PODIUM, and PONDER. It intended to track long-term changes that occurred in the lives of youth who had participated in the models, under which the key evaluation criteria examined were relevance, efficiency, effectiveness, sustainability, and synergies. The team consisted of 2 local consultants who were engaged to support this component of the evaluation, and ensured collection of information from different data streams: a) KIIs with youth-specific stakeholders among Kosovo Institutions, NGOs, and current and former UNICEF KO and Regional Office staff; b) 32 youth cohort FGDs with participants of UPSHIFT, PODIUM, and Ponder; and c) a

virtual survey that was made available through the Survey Monkey platform to participants in all ADAP models throughout the Kosovo Programme.

The KIIs and FGDs were conducted on virtual platforms of choice (Skype, Zoom, Viber, phone calls, Microsoft Teams, etc.) for the stakeholders, and were organized as mini-FGDs, with smaller numbers of persons (ideally 3–5) to cater to bandwidth and online limitations. The online survey was developed based on UNICEF KO's pre- and post-monitoring survey used for monitoring UPSHIFT and PODIUM models. The survey collected basic (anonymized) demographic data along with specific composite measures (education, economic activities, readiness self-assessment, participation and empowerment, primary contribution of the models, and quality of the activities participated in). These scores were then compared to the monitoring data compiled by UNICEF for triangulation.

User Journey Mapping to document Practitioner and User Experiences

This commonly used HCD tool was observed only in A360, where the project utilized a 'user journey' during its process evaluation as a visual depiction of an A360 solution, from the perspective of the beneficiary experiencing the intervention. This tool is similar to 'journey maps' - a systematic approach used in health research to document service-user touchpoints with an intervention, capturing both the physical and emotional journey of the user, including behaviour, feelings, motivations and attitudes. It was therefore chosen as an alternative to country level theories of change or logic models. The early stages of A360 process evaluation focused on exploring and understanding the A360 approach, with a growing emphasis on the solutions as they were prototyped and piloted. With the transition into the scale up phase and streamlining of solutions, the PE had to shift to a more detailed investigation of each solution in its content and how it was being implemented. In addition to this, the solutions constantly evolved throughout the HCD process as well as the adaptive implementation process in each country, presenting challenges in differentiating between what was intended versus what was actually implemented. As a result, 'user journeys' were utilized in response to these challenges and explored the following at the solution level:

Implementation: The user journeys provided a detailed description of each solution and the touchpoints between the solution and adolescent girls, and was used to explore:

Jump to Endnotes

- Fidelity and adaptation: How far were solutions being implemented according to the 'spirit' of the solutions? What was being adapted and why? Were adaptations in line with PSI's adaptive implementation framework and adaptation guidelines? What have the consequences of adaptations been?
- Dose: Number of touchpoints girls have with the solution, the proportion of participants accessing each touchpoint, and the extent to which solution components were being delivered in the planned numbers, districts and sites.
- **Reach**: How many girls were participating in A360 activities? Who were participating, from which groups, and how representative was this of the population of girls?

Mechanisms of impact: It helped the team investigate the causal assumptions within the solutions about how and why certain activities triggered change, which would help map out how and why each element of the solution was expected to contribute to the outcomes in the behaviour change path. Together with PSI, the mechanisms of investigation were prioritized in order to build understanding of how and why the solutions were (or were not) working.

Context: It helped deep-dive into how specific contextual factors affected specific aspects of the solution, helping mitigate the challenge that was faced throughout the PE of how to meaningfully integrate contextual analysis into data collection and findings.

The process of developing these user journeys included development of a draft form by the evaluation team through an initial document review, followed by discussions and finalization with global and country-level A360 teams through calls and workshops at the beginning of each data collection phase. The tool was reportedly more intuitive to program teams, who were able to build on existing program thinking, as they used user journey language and terminology instead of ToCs in their strategy and design documentation. Additionally, it provided a relatively simple way to visually depict what each model for a country level solution looked like at specific time points over the course of the program, and allowed easy and rapid documentation of adaptations, enabling distinction between unplanned 'drifts' away from implementation fidelity.

Report Cards to Gather Multi-Stakeholder Feedback

Report card is another tool that was found in this landscape analysis, which was employed only in A360. It was a tool developed by the A360 Consortium to document and present the results and learnings of different design phases, measuring against these parameters - desirability, feasibility, sustainability and scalability. They were reported to be used retrospectively as a 'sense check' and communication tool between country teams, consortium members and the Foundations. The report cards ensured influence and perspective from other disciplines than HCD during the design process. However, their level of influence on the solutions differed based on the level of effort and resources allocated to each discipline representative or organization.

Collaborative Learnings and Reflections Workshops

Various types of Learnings and Reflections Workshops were found to play an integral role in evaluations of 3 projects (A360, Hewlett evaluation study, and Young@Heart) reviewed as part of this landscape analysis. In A360's process evaluation, participatory 'sounding workshops' were introduced in 2018 to facilitate deeper engagement of A360 staff with PE findings. These were 1-day workshops where implementation and evaluation teams came together to review and discuss the draft findings, verify insights, and collaboratively identify implications for A360 and the wider sector. This component was added to the evaluation as there was very limited scope for implementers to reflect on and apply PE findings due to the intense pace of A360 and high levels of demand on country teams. These workshops, therefore, provided a safe space for critical engagement between team members to reflect on what the evaluation meant for learning and optimization of implemented solutions.

Another form of Learning and Reflections Workshop was reported in the Hewlett evaluation study, termed as Force Field Analysis (FfA). As a result of limited documentation on the processes undertaken in the two program sites (Kenya and Zambia), the evaluation team conducted in-country workshops with key stakeholders from Marie Stopes Kenya (MSK) and Marie Stopes Zambia (MSZ). The workshops utilized interactive and visual techniques to work through their experience of the HCD process and build conclusive insights based on consensus. The visuals and the data generated through the workshops were then discussed and refined via three virtual workshops - one with Hewlett Foundation and two with IDEO.org. As a result,

Jump to Endnotes

the workshop as part of the in-country visit enabled further documentation and understanding of the HCD process (including enablers and constraints) and its application in the design of Diva Centres (MSZ) as well as Future Fab (MSK), and refinement of the Theory of Change.

The Young@Heart program also reports conducting creative workshops with study participants (beneficiaries i.e. youth), wherein young people were encouraged by an artist/designer from the team to think more creatively about how to capture their personal experiences. These workshops were part of the Exploration Lab, that enabled creative self-expression through art, theatre, debates and photography owned by the young people itself. This played an important role in Vietnam, where the Exploration Lab activities, including these reflection and self-expression workshops, were reported as a positive way to engage several youth groups while helping young people feel supported to express themselves freely, especially amidst the country's fragile political situation.

User experience and feedback mechanisms

User and client feedback are integral to the HCD process, as it ensures development of contextually relevant, implementable solutions. Often, programs collect feedback from the users as well as the client during the design and prototyping-testing phases. Iterative use of data and learning is intensified when HCD is brought into a project, which mainly happens at the time of solution design. This can sometimes be expanded into the implementation stage as well. In this landscape analysis, only two projects outline the feedback mechanisms they adopted in their respective programs. BeyondBias⁻ project ensured feedback on the providers' progress each quarter, along with the opportunity for recognition for their achievements. It did this through a growth-oriented performance rewards system developed as part of the program, based on client feedback. This system had 3 key components - a) a standardized rubric of excellence that enabled measurable progress and clear performance targets for the provider behaviour; and c) institutional recognition in front of their peers for improvement and maintenance of quality. A digital audio-visual client exit survey app was developed during the design process in order to collect client feedback after interacting with a provider. This app was tested with over 3,000 youth clients at 29 facilities across the three countries (Pakistan, Burkina Faso, and Tanzania) during the prototyping phase. As a result, facilities would receive report cards with performance data and

Jump to Endnotes

recommendations for improvement, and the high-improvement facilities would get public recognition for their progress. This mechanism also enabled behaviour change as it created accountability for service quality; offered visible performance based rewards; and shifted professional norms.

On the other hand, Project (Re)solve reported that it held Adaptive Learning Meeting (ALM) every two weeks during the implementation phase. These would be collective meetings between the Burkina Faso and US program teams, based on monitoring data and facilitator meeting notes shared by the Burkina Faso program team. During the meetings, the Burkina Faso team reported on what they heard from the facilitators and how they problem-solved based on the country's context. Short-loop and long-loop adaptations emerging from the feedback and experiences of facilitators as well as the in-country program team were discussed and documented. Short-loop adaptations were organic or deliberate changes to the intended implementation of the solution and related activities that emerged from or in response to challenges faced by real-world implementation of the program (such as conducting quick refreshers for facilitators on SRH topics selected by them). On the other hand, long-loop adaptations were recommendations for changes emerging from or in response to challenges faced by real-world implementation of the program that could not be implemented within the scope and timeline of our intervention, but ought to be considered for future replication of the solutions (such as expanding the game to younger girls and boys).



Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH



Adam M.B. et al. (2020). Implementation research and human-centred design: how theory driven human-centred design can sustain trust in complex health systems, support measurement and drive sustained community health volunteer engagement. Health Policy Plan. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33156944/</u>

Heller C., LaFond A. et al. (2021). Methods and Benefits of Measuring Human-Centered Design in Global Health. Global Health: Science and Practice November 2021. https://www.ghspjournal.org/content/9/Supplement_2/S274

3 The four domains of learning for HCDExchange as prioritized by the community: Adolescent Insights, Measurement & Evaluation, Quality & Standards, and Youth Integration.

4 Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. <u>https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-</u> <u>CLEAN-191028-1.pdf</u>

5 Newport, S. et al. (2019). Midterm Review of the Adolescents 360 Program. Itad. https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/A360-MTR-Report_FINAL_27th-June-2019.pdf

6 Atchison, C. J.. (2018). Evaluating the impact of an intervention to increase uptake of modern contraceptives among adolescent girls (15–19 years) in Nigeria, Ethiopia and Tanzania: the Adolescents 360 quasi experimental study protocol. BMJ Open. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29858422/</u>

7 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/ltad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

8 Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. <u>https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/</u> resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

9 Murithi, L. et al. (2020). Tackling Provider Bias in Contraceptive Service Delivery: lessons from the Beyond Bias Project. Camber Collective. <u>https://www.prb.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/beyond-bias-service-delivery-11.pdf</u>

10 Wagner, Z. (2021). Beyond Bias - Reducing Provider Bias Towards Adolescents to Increase Contraception Take-Up in Tanzania, Burkina Faso. RAND. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04802304

11 Nolan, C. et al. (2020). Design and Impact Evaluation of a Digital Reproductive Health Program in Rwanda Using a Cluster Randomized Design: Study Protocol. BMC Public Health. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09746-7</u>

12 UNICEF. (2020). The UNICEF Europe and Central Asia Regional Office. Evaluation of UNICEF Kosovo Programme (2016-2020). UNICEF. <u>https://www.unicef.org/kosovoprogramme/media/1641/file/Evaluation%20of%20UNICEF%20</u> Kosovo%20Programme.pdf

13 Oxfam Youth as Active Citizens Community of Practice. (2019). Co-creation in Young@Heart: Putting Young People at the Heart of Project Design, Implementation and Evaluation. Oxfam. <u>https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/</u> resources/co-creation-in-youngheart-putting-young-people-at-the-heart-of-project-design-i-620701/

14 UN Development Programme. (2017). Innovation for Development in Uganda. Medium. <u>https://undp.medium.com/innovation-for-development-in-uganda-413f88548a3b</u>

15 Hasselknippe, K. S. et al. (2017). Empowering Refugee and Host-Community Youth with Design Thinking Skills for Community Development. The Design Society. <u>https://www.designsociety.org/publication/40295/</u> EMPOWERING+REFUGEE+AND+HOST-COMMUNITY+YOUTH+WITH+DESIGN+THINKING+SKILLS+FOR+COMMUNITY+DEVELOPMENT

16 Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. ltad. <u>https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-</u> CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

17 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

18 Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. <u>https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/</u> resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

19 Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. ltad. <u>https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-CLEAN-191028-1.pdf</u>

Atchison, C. J.. (2018). Evaluating the impact of an intervention to increase uptake of modern contraceptives among adolescent girls (15–19 years) in Nigeria, Ethiopia and Tanzania: the Adolescents 360 quasi experimental study protocol. BMJ Open. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29858422/</u>

21 Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. <u>https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-CLEAN-191028-1.pdf</u>

22 Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and opportunities in evaluating programmes incorporating human-centred design: Lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360. Gates Open Research. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/</u> pmc/articles/PMC6635668/

23 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. <u>https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/</u> resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

25 World Health Organisation, D. of C. and A. H. and D. (CAH). (n.d.). Orientation Programme on Adolescent Health for Health-care Providers.

26 The four domains of learning for HCDExchange as prioritized by the community: Adolescent Insights, Measurement & Evaluation, Quality & Standards, and Youth Integration.

27 Miro is a digital workspace for visual collaboration.

28 Centre for Disease Control and Prevention. Types of Evaluation. <u>https://www.cdc.gov/std/program/pupestd/types%20of%20evaluation.pdf</u>

29 Appleford, G. et al. (2019). Get Smart: Learning and Partnership with Ethiopia's Health Extension Programme to Re-envision Contraceptive Service Delivery to Young Couples. Gates Open Research. <u>https://gatesopenresearch.org/</u> <u>articles/3-1570</u>

Atchison, C. J. (2018). Evaluating the impact of an intervention to increase uptake of modern contraceptives among adolescent girls (15–19 years) in Nigeria, Ethiopia and Tanzania: the Adolescents 360 quasi experimental study protocol. BMJ Open. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29858422/</u>

31 Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/</u>

32 Appleford, G. et al. (2019). Get Smart: Learning and Partnership with Ethiopia's Health Extension Programme to Re-envision Contraceptive Service Delivery to Young Couples. Gates Open Research. <u>https://gatesopenresearch.org/</u> <u>articles/3-1570</u>

Atchison, C. J. (2018). Evaluating the impact of an intervention to increase uptake of modern contraceptives among adolescent girls (15–19 years) in Nigeria, Ethiopia and Tanzania: the Adolescents 360 quasi experimental study protocol. BMJ Open. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29858422/</u>

34 Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/</u>

35 Nolan, C. et al. (2020). Design and Impact Evaluation of a Digital Reproductive Health Program in Rwanda Using a Cluster Randomized Design: Study Protocol. BMC Public Health. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09746-7</u>

Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. <u>https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/</u> resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

37 UNICEF. (2020). The UNICEF Europe and Central Asia Regional Office. *Evaluation of UNICEF Kosovo Programme (2016–2020)*. UNICEF. <u>https://www.unicef.org/kosovoprogramme/media/1641/file/Evaluation%20of%20UNICEF%20</u> Kosovo%20Programme.pdf

38 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

39 Ibid.

40 Appleford, G. et al. (2019). Get Smart: Learning and Partnership with Ethiopia's Health Extension Programme to Re-envision Contraceptive Service Delivery to Young Couples. Gates Open Research. <u>https://gatesopenresearch.org/</u> <u>articles/3-1570</u>

41 Atchison, C. J.. (2018). Evaluating the impact of an intervention to increase uptake of modern contraceptives among adolescent girls (15–19 years) in Nigeria, Ethiopia and Tanzania: the Adolescents 360 quasi experimental study protocol. BMJ Open. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29858422/</u>

42 Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/

43 Murithi, L. et al. (2020). Tackling Provider Bias in Contraceptive Service Delivery: lessons from the Beyond Bias Project. Camber Collective. <u>https://www.prb.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/beyond-bias-service-delivery-11.pdf</u>

44 Wisdom J and Creswell JW. (2013). *Mixed Methods: Integrating Quantitative and Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis While Studying Patient-Centered Medical Home Models*. <u>https://pcmh.ahrq.gov/page/mixed-methods-integrating-quantitative-and-qualitative-data-collection-and-analysis-while</u>

45 Wisdom J and Creswell JW. (2013). *Mixed Methods: Integrating Quantitative and Qualitative Data Collection and Analysis While Studying Patient-Centered Medical Home Models*. <u>https://pcmh.ahrq.gov/page/mixed-methods-integrating-quantitative-and-qualitative-data-collection-and-analysis-while</u>

46 Appleford, G. et al. (2019). Get Smart: Learning and Partnership with Ethiopia's Health Extension Programme to Re-envision Contraceptive Service Delivery to Young Couples. Gates Open Research. <u>https://gatesopenresearch.org/articles/3-1570</u>

47 Atchison, C. J.. (2018). Evaluating the impact of an intervention to increase uptake of modern contraceptives among adolescent girls (15–19 years) in Nigeria, Ethiopia and Tanzania: the Adolescents 360 quasi experimental study protocol. BMJ Open. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29858422/</u>

48 Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/</u>

49 Ibid.

3/beyond-bias-service-delivery-11.pdf

Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/ 50 resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

51 lbid.

52 lbid.

UNICEF. (2020). The UNICEF Europe and Central Asia Regional Office. Evaluation of UNICEF Kosovo Programme (2016-2020). UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/kosovoprogramme/media/1641/file/Evaluation%200f%20UNICEF%20 53 Kosovo%20Programme.pdf

UN Development Programme. (2017). Innovation for Development in Uganda. Medium. https://undp.medium.com/innovation-for-development-in-uganda-413f88548a3b 54

55 Hasselknippe, K. S. et al (2017). Empowering Refugee and Host-Community Youth with Design Thinking Skills for Community Development. The Design Society. https://www.designsociety.org/publication/40295/ EMPOWERING+REFUGEE+AND+HOST-COMMUNITY+YOUTH+WITH+DESIGN+THINKING+SKILLS+FOR+COMMUNITY+DEVELOPMENT

56 UN Development Programme. (2017). Innovation for Development in Uganda. Medium. https://undp.medium.com/innovation-for-development-in-uganda-413f88548a3b

57 Hasselknippe, K. S. et al (2017). Empowering Refugee and Host-Community Youth with Design Thinking Skills for Community Development. The Design Society. https://www.designsociety.org/publication/40295/ EMPOWERING+REFUGEE+AND+HOST-COMMUNITY+YOUTH+WITH+DESIGN+THINKING+SKILLS+FOR+COMMUNITY+DEVELOPMENT

Oxfam Youth as Active Citizens Community of Practice. (2019). Co-creation in Young@Heart: Putting Young People at the Heart of Project Design, Implementation and Evaluation. Oxfam. https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/ 58 co-creation-in-youngheart-putting-young-people-at-the-heart-of-project-design-i-620701/

Hasselknippe, K. S. et al (2017). Empowering Refugee and Host-Community Youth with Design Thinking Skills for Community Development. The Design Society. https://www.designsociety.org/publication/40295/ 59 EMPOWERING+REFUGEE+AND+HOST-COMMUNITY+YOUTH+WITH+DESIGN+THINKING+SKILLS+FOR+COMMUNITY+DEVELOPMENT

60 Oxfam Youth as Active Citizens Community of Practice. (2019). Co-creation in Young@Heart: Putting Young People at the Heart of Project Design, Implementation and Evaluation. Oxfam. https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/ co-creation-in-youngheart-putting-young-people-at-the-heart-of-project-design-i-620701/

Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-61 CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

Newport, S. et al. (2019). Midterm Review of the Adolescents 360 Program. Itad. https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/A360-MTR-Report_FINAL_27th-June-2019.pdf 62

63 Atchison, C. J.. (2018). Evaluating the impact of an intervention to increase uptake of modern contraceptives among adolescent girls (15–19 years) in Nigeria, Ethiopia and Tanzania: the Adolescents 360 quasi experimental study protocol. BMJ Open. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/29858422/

Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-64 HCD-Evaluation Final-Report Nov-10-2017.pdf

lbid. 65

66 lbid. Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH

Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/ 67 resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

68 lbid.

lbid. 69

Murithi, L. et al. (2020). Tackling Provider Bias in Contraceptive Service Delivery: lessons from the Beyond Bias Project. Camber Collective. https://www.prb.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/beyond-bias-service-delivery-11.pdf 70

Wagner, Z. (2021). Beyond Bias - Reducing Provider Bias Towards Adolescents to Increase Contraception Take-Up in Tanzania, Burkina Faso. RAND. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT04802304 71

72 Nolan, C. et al. (2020). Design and Impact Evaluation of a Digital Reproductive Health Program in Rwanda Using a Cluster Randomized Design: Study Protocol. BMC Public Health. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-09746-7

73 lbid.

74 UNICEF. (2020). The UNICEF Europe and Central Asia Regional Office. Evaluation of UNICEF Kosovo Programme (2016-2020). UNICEF. https://www.unicef.org/kosovoprogramme/media/1641/file/Evaluation%200f%20UNICEF%20 Kosovo%20Programme.pdf

75 lbid.

76 lbid.

77 Oxfam Youth as Active Citizens Community of Practice. (2019). Co-creation in Young@Heart: Putting Young People at the Heart of Project Design, Implementation and Evaluation. Oxfam. https://policy-practice.oxfam.org/resources/ co-creation-in-youngheart-putting-young-people-at-the-heart-of-project-design-i-620701/

78 Oxfam Youth as Active Citizens Community of Practice. (2019). Youth participation and transparency and transparency in national budgeting, Learning from a youth-led partnership in Vietnam. Oxfam. https://oxfamilibrary. openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/620702/cs-youth-participation-transparency-national-budgeting-010419-en.pdf; jsessionid=E9E7BFDABBA79EBF5AC6775CD5CCB8DF?sequence=1

79 lbid.

80 UN Development Programme. (2017). Innovation for Development in Uganda. Medium. https://undp.medium.com/innovation-for-development-in-uganda-413f88548a3b

Hasselknippe, K. S. et al (2017). Empowering Refugee and Host-Community Youth with Design Thinking Skills for Community Development. The Design Society. https://www.designsociety.org/publication/40295/ 81 EMPOWERING+REFUGEE+AND+HOST-COMMUNITY+YOUTH+WITH+DESIGN+THINKING+SKILLS+FOR+COMMUNITY+DEVELOPMENT

82 A \$30 million grant was announced at the 2016 International Conference on Family Planning

In partnership with IDEO.org, the Center on the Developing Adolescent at University of California, Berkeley (UCB) and the Society for Family Health (SFH) Nigeria. 83

84 These countries have some of the highest teenage pregnancy rates and lowest rates of modern contraceptive use among adolescents.

85 MeasureD. (n.d.). Adolescents 360. MeasureD. https://measured.design/adolescents-360/

86 Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-

Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH

CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

87 lbid.

88 Itad. (n.d.) Adolescents 360 Evaluation, What do service providers think about contraceptive service provision to 15–19 year old girls in Nigeria?. Itad. https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/01/A360_PAR-case-study_ Nigeria_Dec-18.pdf

Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-89 CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

90 lbid.

91 The approach draws from Participatory Ethnographic Evaluation and Research's principles (PEER).

92 lbid.

93 Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

94 lbid.

95 lbid.

Doyle. A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open 96 Research. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/

97 lbid.

98 lbid.

Newport, S. et al. (2019). Midterm Review of the Adolescents 360 Program. Itad. https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/A360-MTR-Report_FINAL_27th-June-2019.pdf 99

100 Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/

101 lbid.

Beck, E. (2020). To measure innovation, we should have suited up differently. Population Services International. https://a360learninghub.org/measuringinnovation/#1573237459945-9db4ebad-8fdf 102

103 lbid.

Newport, S. et al. (2019). Midterm Review of the Adolescents 360 Program. Itad. https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/A360-MTR-Report_FINAL_27th-June-2019.pdf 104

105 lbid.

106 lbid.

107 lbid.

108 lbid.

Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-109 CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

110 lbid.

Doyle. A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open 111 Research. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/

112 lbid.

113 MeasureD. (n.d.). Adolescents 360. MeasureD. https://measured.design/adolescents-360/

114 lbid.

Beck, E. (2020). To measure innovation, we should have suited up differently. Population Services International. <u>https://a360learninghub.org/measuringinnovation/#1573237459945-9db4ebad-8fdf</u> 115

KII. (2021c). Evaluator. 116

117 Doyle. A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/

118 lbid.

119 lbid.

Newport, S. et al. (2019). Midterm Review of the Adolescents 360 Program. Itad. https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/A360-MTR-Report_FINAL_27th-June-2019.pdf 120

121 KII. (2021h). Program implementer

122 IDEO. (2018). Diva Centres and Divine Divas. https://www.comminit.com/srhrafrica/content/diva-centres-and-divine-divas

123 lbid.

Mann Global Health. (n.d.). Future Fab Case Study. https://mannglobalhealth.com/microsite/downloads/MGH-case-study-future-fab.pdf 124

125 lbid.

126 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

127 Utility-focused evaluation, developed by Michael Quinn Patton, is an approach based on the principle that an evaluation should be judged on its usefulness to its intended end users.

128 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

- 129 Ibid.
- 130 Ibid.
- 131 Ibid.
- 132 Ibid.
- 133 Ibid.
- 134 Ibid.
- 135 Ibid.
- 136 Ibid.
- 137 Ibid.
- 138 Ibid.
- 139 Ibid.
- 140 Ibid.
- 141 Ibid.
- 142 KII. (2021i). Pathfinder International: Evaluator
- 143 Pathfinder. (n.d.). (re)solve). <u>https://www.pathfinder.org/projects/resolve/</u>
- 144 Ibid.

Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. <u>https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/</u> resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

146 Ibid.

147 Ibid.

148 lbid.

Refer to the framework here: Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. https://www.icrw.org/wp-149 content/uploads/2021/03/resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

150 lbid.

151 KII. (2021i). Pathfinder International: Evaluator

152 lbid.

153 Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/ resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

- 154 lbid.
- 155 lbid.
- 156 lbid.
- 157 lbid.
- 158 lbid.
- 159 lbid.
- 160 lbid.
- 161 lbid.
- 162 lbid.
- KII. (2021i). Pathfinder International: Evaluator 163
- lbid. 164
- 165 lbid.
- 166 lbid.

Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/ 167 resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

| 168 | lbid. |
|------------------------|--|
| 169 | lbid. |
| 170 | KII. (2021i). Pathfinder International: Evaluator |
| 171 | lbid. |
| 172 <u>resolve-</u> | Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. <u>https://www.icrw.org/</u> Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf |
| 173 <u>uploads</u> | Murithi, L. et al. (2021). Part 1: Executive Summary, Integrating Human-Centered Design in a Multidisciplinary Effort to Address Provider Bias: The Beyond Bias Experience. Pathfinder. <u>https://www</u> |
| 174 | lbid. |
| 175 | The consultation experience itself is divided on four points: first contact > access patient needs > explore method options > method decision. |
| 176 <u>Solution</u> | Murithi, L. et al. (2021). Part 3: Adolescent and Youth Sexual and Reproductive Health Solutions Generated and Tested by Beyond Bias. Pathfinder. <u>https://www.pathfinder.org/wp-content/uploads</u> |
| 177 | Ibid. |
| 178 | YLabs. (2020). Using digital education to improve the health and livelihoods of urban adolescents. https://www.ylabsglobal.org/work/all/cyberrwanda_ |
| 179 | Ibid. |
| 180 | Ibid. |
| 181 | Nolan, C. et al. (2020). Design and Impact Evaluation of a Digital Reproductive Health Program in Rwanda Using a Cluster Randomized Design: Study Protocol. BMC Public Health. https://doi.org |
| 182 | Ibid. |
| 183 | YLabs. (2020). Using digital education to improve the health and livelihoods of urban adolescents. https://www.ylabsglobal.org/work/all/cyberrwanda |
| 184 | Nolan, C. et al. (2020). Design and Impact Evaluation of a Digital Reproductive Health Program in Rwanda Using a Cluster Randomized Design: Study Protocol. BMC Public Health. https://doi.org |
| 185 | lbid. |
| 186 | MINEDUC Rwanda, UNICEF. Understanding dropout and repetition in Rwanda. 2017 <u>http://www.rencp.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/DROPOUT-STUDY-FULL-REPORT.pdf.</u> Accessed Apr 1, 20 |
| 187 | Nolan, C. et al. (2020). Design and Impact Evaluation of a Digital Reproductive Health Program in Rwanda Using a Cluster Randomized Design: Study Protocol. BMC Public Health. https://doi.org |
| 188 | lbid. |

Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH

/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/

w.pathfinder.org/wp-content/

ls/2021/07/BeyondBias-Brief-3-

g/10.1186/s12889-020-09746-7

g/10.1186/s12889-020-09746-7

020.

g/10.1186/s12889-020-09746-7

189 Ibid.

190 YLabs. (2020). Using digital education to improve the health and livelihoods of urban adolescents. <u>https://www.ylabsglobal.org/work/all/cyberrwanda</u>

191 Newport, S. et al. (2019). Midterm Review of the Adolescents 360 Program. Itad. https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/A360-MTR-Report_FINAL_27th-June-2019.pdf

Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. <u>https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-</u> CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

193 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/ltad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. <u>https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/</u> resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

195 MeasureD. (n.d.). <u>https://measured.design/adolescents-360/</u>

196 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/ltad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

- 197 Ibid.
- 198 Ibid.
- 199 Ibid.
- 200 Ibid.
- 201 Ibid.

A360. (2020). A360's Learning and Growth Since the 2018 Mid-Term Evaluation. A360. https://a360learninghub.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/01/A360-MTE-_-V3.pdf

203 Murithi, L. et al. (2020). Tackling Provider Bias in Contraceptive Service Delivery: lessons from the Beyond Bias Project. Camber Collective. https://www.prb.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/beyond-bias-service-delivery-11.pdf

204 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

205 KII. (2021f). Population Services International: Program Implementer

206 MeasureD. (n.d.). https://measured.design/adolescents-360/

207 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

208 KII. (2021f). Population Services International: Program Implementer

209 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

210 Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. ltad. <u>https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-CLEAN-191028-1.pdf</u>

211 Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/</u>

212 Ibid.

213 Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/ltad-</u> HCD-Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

214 Newport, S. et al. (2019). Midterm Review of the Adolescents 360 Program. Itad. https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/A360-MTR-Report_FINAL_27th-June-2019.pdf

Hinson, L. et al. (2020). A Game, a Passport, and a Poster: Changing Contraceptive Attitudes, Intentions, and Behaviours Among School Girls in Urban Burkina Faso. ICRW. <u>https://www.icrw.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/</u> resolve-Evaluation-Report_final_Feb2021.pdf

216 HCDExchange. (2021). Community Call: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD+ASRH. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=xRjU8yv6Mjc</u>

217 KII. (2021a). Ideo.org: Design Evaluator

218 Ibid.

219 KII. (2021c). Itad: Evaluator

Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. ltad. <u>https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-</u> CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

221 Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/

222 Newport, S. et al. (2019). Midterm Review of the Adolescents 360 Program. Itad. <u>https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/A360-MTR-Report_FINAL_27th-June-2019.pdf</u>

Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. <u>https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-</u> CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/</u>

225 Newport, S. et al. (2019). Midterm Review of the Adolescents 360 Program. ltad. <u>https://itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/06/A360-MTR-Report_FINAL_27th-June-2019.pdf</u>

Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open 226 Research. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/

227 Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

228 KII. (2021c). Itad: Evaluator

229 Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open Research. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/

230 Punton, M et al. (2019). Adolescents 360 Evaluation Process Evaluation Methodology: Updated. Itad. https://www.itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2020/02/A360-Process-Evaluation-Protocol-Paper_Revised_August-2019_final-CLEAN-191028-1.pdf

231 lbid.

232 KII. (2021c). Itad: Evaluator

233 lbid.

Itad. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. itad.com/wp-content/uploads/2018/07/Itad-HCD-234 Evaluation_Final-Report_Nov-10-2017.pdf

235 lbid.

236 Adam M.B. et al. (2020). Implementation research and human-centred design: how theory driven human-centred design can sustain trust in complex health systems, support measurement and drive sustained community health volunteer engagement. Health Policy Plan. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33156944/

237 Heller C, LaFond A, Murthy L. Methods and benefits of measuring human-centered design in global health. Glob Health Sci Pract. 2021;9(Suppl. 2):S274-S282. p. S274. https://doi.org/10.9745/GHSP-D-21-00207

238 LaFond, A. & Davis N. (2017) Evaluating the Influence of Human-Centered Design on Health Programs. JSI. https://www.jsi.com/evaluating-the-influence-of-human-centered-design-on-health-programs/

Adam M. B. et al. (2020). Implementation research and human-centred design: how theory driven human-centred design can sustain trust in complex health systems, support measurement and drive sustained community health 239 volunteer engagement. Health Policy Plan. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33156944/

240 MeasureD. (n.d.). Methodology. MeasureD. https://measured.design/observations-and-learnings/

Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open 241 Research. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/

KII. (2021c). Evaluator 242

Doyle, A. M. et al. (2019). Challenges and Opportunities in Evaluating Programmes incorporating human-centred design: lessons learnt from the evaluation of Adolescents 360 [version 2; peer review: 3 approved]. Gates Open 243

Research. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC6635668/</u>

244 Ibid.

245 Calder, R. et al. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>https://www.itad.com/knowledge-product/evaluation-of-the-hewlett-foundations-strategy-to-apply-human-centred-design-to-improve-family-planning-and-reproductive-health-in-sub-saharan-africa/</u>

246 Ibid.

247 Ibid.

248 MeasureD. (n.d.). Methodology. MeasureD. <u>https://measured.design/observations-and-learnings/</u>

249 KII. (2021c). Itad: Evaluator

250 Calder, R. et al. (2017). Evaluation of The Hewlett Foundation's Strategy to Apply Human-Centered Design to Improve Family Planning and Reproductive Health Services in Sub-Saharan Africa. <u>https://www.itad.com/knowledge-product/evaluation-of-the-hewlett-foundations-strategy-to-apply-human-centred-design-to-improve-family-planning-and-reproductive-health-in-sub-saharan-africa/</u>



Landscape Review: Measurement & Evaluation in HCD & ASRH

February 28, 2022



